

HOKKAIDO UNIVERSITY

Title	Factors for controlling stable isotopic composition of amino acids of marine organisms : Implication to aquatic ecosystem studies
Author(s)	Xing, Daochao
Citation	北海道大学. 博士(環境科学) 甲第14633号
Issue Date	2021-09-24
DOI	10.14943/doctoral.k14633
Doc URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2115/90554
Туре	theses (doctoral)
File Information	XING_Daochao.pdf



Hokkaido University Collection of Scholarly and Academic Papers : HUSCAP

## Factors for controlling stable isotopic composition of amino acids of marine organisms: Implication to aquatic ecosystem studies

海洋生物に含まれるアミノ酸の安定同位体比を

変化させる要因の解明

August 2021

**Graduate School of Environmental Science** 

Hokkaido University

**Daochao Xing** 

北海道大学 大学院環境科学院

邢 道超

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT v
CHAPTER I. General Introduction1
References 6
CHAPTER II. Illustration of Food Webs in a Complex Ecosystem
via Stable Isotope Analysis of Amino Acids
2-1. Trophic hierarchy of coastal marine fish communities viewed via compound-specific
isotope analysis of amino acids
Abstract9
1. Introduction
2. Materials and methods
2.1 Sample collection 14
2.2 Isotope analysis 17
2.3 Calculation of TP and isotopic baseline 19
3. Results 21
4. Discussion
4.1 Food web structure

4.2 Effect of $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,Phe}}$ va	lues on the TP	
Busenne, i ne		

4.3 Habitats	
5. Conclusion	
References	

2-2. Tissue-specific $\delta^{15}N$ values of amino acids in aquatic organisms: Implication to the
ecological food web studies
Abstract
1. Introduction
2. Materials and methods
2.1 Materials
2.2 CSIA-AA 40
3. Results and discussion
3.1 Seven tissues within a single fish
3.2 Shell protein of gastropods
3.3 Embryo of fish and turtle
4. Conclusion
References

1. Introduction
2. Materials and methods
2.1 Collection of fish
2.2 Analysis of the $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids
2.2 Illustration of baseline $\delta^{15}$ N isoscape map
3. Results 65
4. Discussion
4.1 Nitrogen sources of ecosystems
4.2 The impact of nitrogen sources on TP of fish
5. Conclusion
References

## CHAPTER III. Effect of pH on the Trophic Discrimination of <sup>15</sup>N/<sup>14</sup>N for Amino Acids in Marine

### Organisms

Abstract	75
1. Introduction	75
2. Materials and method	
2.1 Raising samples	78
2.2 Designing of aquarium system	78
2.3 Analyzing of the $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids	80

2.4 Evaluating energy consumption of organisms	
2.4.1 Evaluating energy consumption of fish and gastropods	81
2.4.2 Evaluating energy consumption of coral	82
3. Results	84
4. Discussion	
4.1 Evaluating the energy consumption of fish and gastropod	88
4.2 Evaluating the energy consumption of coral	89
5. Conclusion	93
References	94

CHAPTER IV. General Conclusions	96
---------------------------------	----

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
------------------	--

#### ABSTRACT

#### Introduction

Marine ecosystems have been damaged by human activities, including the extinction of organisms by overfishing, the concentration of pollutants by biomagnification, and the acidification of ocean by CO<sub>2</sub> emission. These problems affect marine ecosystems in many ways, including alteration of the trophic position (TP) and energy consumption of organisms. TP of organisms is useful for determining biomagnification. However, in previous studies, there is an issue on the determination, because calculating the accurate TP of organisms is challenging. Also, energy consumption of organisms is useful for estimating the effect of ocean acidification on organisms. However, there is an issue on the estimation, because evaluating the accurate energy consumption is challenging.

#### **Scientific objectives**

We have two scientific objectives in this study. First, to evaluate the effect of multiple nitrogen sources on the isotopic composition of organisms in food webs, we chose Sagami Bay, where is affected by Kuroshio Current, agriculture fertilization, and industrial nitrogen, as a site for the three following studies: charactering food web structure for fish communities (Chapter II, 2-1), comparing nitrogen isotope ratios ( $\delta^{15}$ N) between tissue types (Chapter II, 2-2), and illustrating isoscape map of coastal areas (Chapter II, 2-3). Secondly, to evaluate the effect of pH on the isotopic composition of organisms, we reared fish, gastropods, and corals in the artificial

seawater with pH7.3-8.1, as samples for evaluating the change in the energy consumption of organisms between pHs (Chapter III).

# Effect of multiple nitrogen sources on the isotopic composition of organisms in food webs (Chapter II)

- The small standard deviation of TP for 14 species collected from Sagami Bay suggests that compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) is useful for calculating TP of organisms and illustrating food web structure even for complex ecosystems.
- 2. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in scale, fin, shell, and yolk are almost identical to those corresponding amino acids in muscle. This result suggests that these four tissues can be used as alternative samples to muscle in CSIA-AA, but other tissues (e.g., blood and bone) cannot.
- 3. From the isoscape map illustrated, we found a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  value across Sagami Bay, which reflects the incorporation of isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources to Sagami Bay.

#### Effect of low pH on the isotopic composition of aquatic organisms (Chapter III)

Changes in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acids between pHs reveal that, in the end of energy consumption, there are different effects among species to the seawater pH: (1) pH7.3 is positively affected to the fish and gastropods; (2) pH7.6-8.1 is negligibly affected to the corals; and (3) pH lower than 7.6 is negatively affected to the corals.

## CHAPTER I.

**General Introduction** 

Marine ecosystems have been damaged by human activities, including the extinction of organisms by overfishing, the concentration of pollutants by biomagnification, and the acidification of ocean by CO<sub>2</sub> emission (Wren and Stephenson, 1991; Jackson et al. 2001; Conley et al. 2009). In generally, extinction is the termination of a species of organisms. One of major reasons for the extinction is the destruction of natural ecosystems by human activities. For example, Ostrom et al. (2017) reported that the trophic position (TP) of Hawaiian petrel Pterodroma sandwichensis is declined ~0.4 units from last 100 years to modern. These results suggest that size of food webs in North Pacific Ocean has shrank because of overfishing. In the Ph.D. thesis, I mainly focus on the study related to biomagnification and ocean acidification. Biomagnification is an increase in the concentration of pollutants (e.g., Hg, N, and P) among organisms along food chain. Scientists have a lot of efforts during the last three decades, to identify the degree of biomagnification for each pollutant in food webs (Giesy et al. 2001; Tomy et al. 2004). TP of organisms is a factor for determining biomagnification. However, there is an issue on the determination in the previous studies, as the calculation of TP of organisms is challenging. On the other hand, ocean acidification is a decrease in the pH of seawater because the uptake of CO<sub>2</sub> from atmosphere. Scientists have a lot of efforts during the last three decades, to evaluate the effect of ocean acidification on the organism and food webs.

Energy consumption of organisms is a factor for estimating the effect of ocean acidification. However, there is an issue on the estimation, because evaluation of the

energy consumption is challenging. Compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) is one of potential powerful tools for solving these two issues on the determination and estimation, because this analysis allows us accurately to calculate TP and evaluate energy consumption of organisms in environments.

Nitrogen atoms have two stable isotopes that are <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>14</sup>N, and the relative atomic abundance are 0.365% and 99.635% for former and latter, respectively (Fry, 2006). The nitrogen isotope ratios (i.e., <sup>15</sup>N/<sup>14</sup>N = ~0.0036) have a large variation among samples in natural environments. The main reason for this variation is the isotope fractionation during chemical and biological reactions in natural environments, as organisms preferentially use <sup>14</sup>N comparing to <sup>15</sup>N in metabolisms (Fry, 2006). Nitrogen isotope ratios are conventionally expressed in parts per thousand (‰) as the difference between the ratios in sample and those in the international standard, according to the following equation (1-1):

$$\delta^{15}N = \left(\begin{array}{c} \left(\frac{1^{5}N}{1^{4}N}\right)_{\text{Sample}} & -1\\ \left(\frac{1^{5}N}{1^{4}N}\right)_{\text{Standard}} & -1 \end{array}\right) \times 1000 \,(\%) \quad (1-1)$$

The nitrogen isotope ratios ( $\delta^{15}N$ ) are particularly useful in ecological studies, for example, changes in the ratio from diet to consumer species is correlated with the trophic position and the energy consumption of organisms in food webs.

At present, there are several methods to calculate TP of organisms, including observation, stomach content analysis, and stable isotope analysis (e.g., DeNiro and Epstein, 1981; Williams and Martinez, 2004). For the former two methods, they can directly evaluate the proportion of diet species for consumers, but such diet information is snapshot comparing to the whole diets of consumers. Stable isotope analysis including bulk (e.g., muscle or whole samples) nitrogen isotope analysis and CSIA-AA allows us to know the integrated  $\delta^{15}N$  values of diets (e.g., hour-day scale for phytoplankton, day-week scale for zooplankton, month-year scale for fish) (e.g., Sweeting et al. 2005; Tiselius and Fransson, 2016). Since 1980s, bulk nitrogen isotope analysis has been used to calculate TP of the organisms in food webs. However, the bulk analysis has two major drawbacks that potentially cause large errors in the TP calculation. First, the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of primary producers have a large variation in many cases. Second, the trophic discrimination factor (TDF) varies among different samples (e.g., Cabana and Rasmussen, 1996; Fourgurean et al. 1997; Vander Zanden et al. 1997). To reduce the errors on TP calculation, CSIA-AA has been used since 2007 (Chikaraishi et al. 2007; McCarthy et al. 2007; Popp et al. 2007). There are two types of amino acids, 'trophic' and 'source' for changing the  $\delta^{15}N$  values in trophic transfer along food webs. 'Trophic' AAs (e.g., glutamic acid: Glu) show a large <sup>15</sup>N enrichment (3-8‰) during trophic transfer, whereas 'source' AAs (e.g., phenylalanine, Phe) show a small <sup>15</sup>N enrichment (0-1‰) (Chikaraishi et al. 2007). Difference in the <sup>15</sup>N enrichment between "trophic" and 'source' AAs has been used to calculate TP of

organisms in food webs. However, little is known the applicability of CSIA-AA for calculating TP of organisms in complex ecosystems with isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources.

At present, there are several methods to access the energy consumption of organisms, including observation, oxygen consumption analysis, and stable isotope analysis. Munday et al. (2012) reported that juvenile coral trout Plectropomus leopardus spent 75% and 10% of their life time in shelters when CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in seawater are 490 µatm and 960 µatm, respectively. The Authors suggested that high activity levels potentially cause a high energy consumption for this species in seawater with CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is 960 µatm. However, in general, results of observation may frequently contain human error on the identification of organism behaviors such as turning, moving, jumping, swimming, hiding, etc. and evaluation of the results are not directly correlated the energy consumption. Moreover, in the master thesis of mine, I measured the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) of  $\bigcirc$  *Epinephelus fuscoguttatus*  $\times \stackrel{\sim}{\rightarrow} E$ . *lanceolatus* hybrid grouper juveniles under difference in the temperature and salinity. We found that the OCR is correlated positively with temperature and negatively with salinity. These results suggest that the energy consumption of organisms potentially changes with environmental factors (Xing et al. 2019). However, because the oxygen consumption analysis is a snapshot analysis, we need the integration of in turn snapshots to understand the oxygen consumption at week to year scale for the

organisms in experiments. Also, in many case, pure culture (without any bacterium and alga) is difficult for the oxygen consumption experiments.

To evaluate the energy consumption of organisms in ocean acidification, we hypothesize that CSIA-AA will be available, because change in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acid in organisms is caused by metabolic breakdown of amino acids to produce life energy and therefore mirrors the energy consumption in organisms. The organisms may receive stresses in specific environments where physical, chemical, and biological factors are different from natural environments, therefore the energy consumption of organisms potentially change, probably to adapt such environments.

The Ph.D. thesis is composed of two studies, 1) calculating the accurate TP of organisms in food webs, and 2) evaluating the energy consumption of organisms in ocean acidification. For former, we demonstrate the applicably of CSIA-AA in a complex environment, evaluate the variation in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acids among tissue types, and illustrate the spatial variation in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of primary producers in the complex environment. This study will become the basis of my future science, as well as contribute advance in stable isotope ecology. For latter, we have first attempt to access the energy consumption of organisms, which includes designing a constant pH aquarium system, and evaluating energy consumption of organisms. This study will also become the basis of my future science, as well as contribute advance.

#### References

- Cabana G, Rasmussen J. B. (1996) Comparison of aquatic food chains using nitrogen isotopes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93:10844–10847.
- Chikaraishi Y., Kashiyama Y., Ogawa N. O., Kitazato H. and Ohkouchi N. (2007) Metabolic control of nitrogen isotope composition of amino acids in macroalgae and gastropods: implications for aquatic food web studies. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 342:85–90.
- Conley D. J., Paerl H. W., Howarth. R.W., Boesch. D. F. and others (2009) Controlling eutrophication: nitrogen and phosphorus. *Science* 323:1014–1015.
- DeNiro M. J., Epstein S. (1981) Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* 45:341–351
- Fourqurean J. W., Moore T. O., Fry B., Hollibaugh J. T. (1997) Spatial and temporal variation in C : N : P ratios,  $\delta^{15}$ N, and  $\delta^{13}$ C of eelgrass Zostera marina as indicators of ecosystem processes, Tomales Bay, California, USA. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 157:147–157
- Fry, B. (2006). Stable isotope ecology (Vol. 521). New York: Springer.
- Giesy J. P., and Kannan K. (2001) Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 35, 1339-1342.
- Jackson J. B. C., Kirby M. X., Berger W. H., Bjorndal K. A. and others (2001) Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science* 293:629–637.
- McCarthy M. D., Benner R., Lee C. and Fogel M. L. (2007) Amino acid nitrogen isotopic fractionation patterns as indicators of heterotrophy in plankton, particulate, and dissolved organic matter. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* 71:4727–4744.
- Munday P. L., Pratchett M. S., Dixson D. L., Donelson J. M., Endo G. G. and others (2013). Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> affects the behavior of an ecologically and economically important coral reef fish. *Mar. Biol.* 160, 2137-2144.

- Ostrom P. H., Wiley A. E., James H. F., Rossman S., Walker W. A. and others (2017) Broad-scale trophic shift in the pelagic North Pacific revealed by an oceanic seabird. *Proc R Soc B* 284:20162436.
- Popp B. N., Graham B. S., Olson R. J., Hannides C. C. S., Lott M. J. and others (2007) Insight into the trophic ecology of yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*, from compound-specific nitrogen isotope analysis of proteinaceous amino acids. *Terr Ecol* 1:173–190.
- Tiselius P, Fransson K. (2016) Daily changes in  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C stable isotopes in copepods: equilibrium dynamics and variations of trophic level in the field. *J Plankton Res* 38: 751–761.
- Tomy G. T., Tittlemier S. A., Palace V. P., Budakowski W. R., Braekevelt E., Brinkworth L., Friesen K. (2004) Biotransformation of N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamide by rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) liver microsomes. *Environ. Sci. Ttechnol.* 38, 758-762.
- Vander Zanden M. J., Cabana G., Rasmussen J. B. (1997) Comparing trophic position of freshwater fish calculated using stable nitrogen isotope ratios (δ<sup>15</sup>N) and literature dietary data. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci* 54:1142–1158
- Sweeting C. J., Jennings S., Polunin N. V. C. (2005) Variance in isotopic signatures as a descriptor of tissue turnover and degree of omnivory. *Funct Ecol* 19:777–784
- Williams R. J., Martinez N. D. (2004) Limits totrophic levels and omnivory in complex food webs: theory and data. *American Naturalist* 163:458–468.
- Wren C. D., Stephenson G.L. (1991) The effect of acidification on the accumulation and toxicity of metals to freshwater invertebrates. *Environ Pollut* 71:205–241.

Xing D., Song X., Peng L., Cheng Y., and Zhai, J. (2019). Effects of Temperature and Salinity on Oxygen Consumption and Ammonium Excretion Rate of ♀ *Epinephelus fuscoguttatus× ∂ E. lanceolatus* Juveniles. *J. OCEAN UNIV.* 18, 177-184.

## CHAPTER II.

## Illustration of Food Webs in a Complex Ecosystem, via

**Stable Isotope Analysis of Amino Acids** 

# 2-1. Trophic hierarchy of coastal marine fish communities viewed via compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids

#### Abstract

Coastal marine ecosystems are very complex and composed of myriad organisms, including offshore, coastal, and migratory fish occupying diverse trophic positions (TPs) in food webs. The illustration of trophic hierarchy based on the TP and resource utilization of individual organisms remains challenging. In this study, we applied compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids to estimate the TP and isotopic baseline (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}$ N values of primary resources at the base of food webs) for 13 fish and 1 squid species in a coastal area of Sagami Bay, Japan, where a large diversity in the isotopic baseline is caused by an admixture of ocean currents and artificial nitrogen inputs. Our results indicate that the TP of fish and squid varies between 2.9 and 3.9 (i.e., omnivorous, carnivorous, and tertiary consumers), with low variation within individual species. Moreover, the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of phenylalanine revealed the diversity of isotopic baselines between and within species. Low values (7.8-10.3‰) and high values (18.6–19.2‰), with a small variation ( $1\sigma < 1.0\%$ ), were found in 2 offshore species and 3 coastal species, respectively. In contrast, highly variable values (9.8–19.7‰), with large variation within species  $(1\sigma > 1.0\%)$ , were found for the remaining 9 migratory species. These results represent evidence of differential trophic exploitation

of habitats between offshore and coastal species, particularly among individuals of migratory species, that were all collected in a single area of Sagami Bay.

#### Key words:

Trophic position, habitat, food web, nutrient input, compound-specific isotope analysis, amino acids, nitrogen isotope

This section was originally published as; Xing et al. (2020) Trophic hierarchy of coastal marine fish communities viewed via compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 652: 137-144.

#### 1. Introduction

For the last several decades, marine ecosystems have been increasingly impacted by human activities, including eutrophication of coastal areas by nutrient inputs, ocean acidification by CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, increased concentrations of pollutants by biomagnification, and the extinction of organisms by overfishing (Wren and Stephenson, 1991; Jackson et al. 2001; Conley et al. 2009). These problems affect marine ecosystems in many ways, including alterations of the food webs (e.g., Ostrom et al. 2017; Morra et al. 2019).

The characterization of the trophic positions (TPs) of organisms and their use of resources within food webs is useful in understanding changes in marine ecosystems (e.g., Wada et al. 1987; Vander Zanden and Rasmussen, 1996; Post, 2002; Fry, 2006). The TPs of organisms have long been estimated by stomach content analysis, based on the direct identification of diets that the organisms feed on. However, this method has several drawbacks, as it provides only a snapshot of feeding, is biased toward easily detectable prey species, and does not always allow clear identification of digested items. To solve these issues, stable isotope analysis of bulk nitrogen in protein-rich tissues of organisms has been used since the 1980s, based on the increase in nitrogen stable isotope ratios ( $\delta^{15}$ N) between food and consumers (e.g., DeNiro and Epstein, 1981; Minagawa and Wada, 1986). The use of stable isotopes allows us to see the integrated prey information at the turnover time of the tissue: days to weeks for zooplankton (Tiselius and Fransson, 2016) and months to years for fish (Sweeting et al. 2005).

However, this bulk isotope method is not always useful for the study of food webs, particularly for coastal marine ecosystems. In coastal marine ecosystems, the primary producers (mostly phytoplankton) can utilize multiple isotopically distinct inorganic nitrogen sources (e.g., NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) to synthesize the amino acids required to produce biomass protein, which is transferred to upper trophic levels by consumers such as zooplankton and fish. The large difference in the life span and integration time of the isotopes between phytoplankton and fish makes it difficult to compare the  $\delta^{15}$ N values between primary producers and consumers, which is further complicated when the latter exploit different habitats (e.g., Cabana and Rasmussen, 1996; Fourqurean et al. 1997; Vander Zanden et al. 1997; O'Reilly et al. 2002; Post, 2002).

To avoid asynchronies in the life spans between primary producers and consumers, compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) has been proposed as an alternative tool for calculating the TPs of organisms (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2007; McCarthy et al. 2007; Popp et al. 2007). This method is based on predictable trophic increases in the  $\delta^{15}$ N values between amino acids along food chains (Gaebler et al. 1966; McClelland and Montoya, 2002; Steffan et al. 2015; McMahon and McCarthy, 2016). Such increases (trophic discrimination factor, TDF) allow for estimating the TP from the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids within a single organism, thus avoiding the problem with bulk isotope analysis caused by differences in the life span between primary producers and consumers, and therefore illustrating the food web structure from TPs in marine ecosystems (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2014). However, CSIA-AA has not yet been

applied to coastal areas where isotopically distinct multiple inorganic nitrogen forms are used as nitrogen sources for primary producers and incorporated into food webs. In such environments, the estimations of TP by the bulk method are less precise in assessing the dynamics of coastal ecosystems (e.g., Rolff 2000; Carscallen et al. 2012). Sagami Bay (Japan) is a complex environment in which nutrient dynamics are largely affected by ocean currents, agricultural fertilization, and industrial nitrogen fixation, which translates into a large diversity in the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of primary producers (Fujiki et al. 2004; Baek et al. 2009). This diversity has resulted in some serious underestimations of the TPs of starfish, bivalves, and gastropods, which were estimated to be autotrophs according to bulk isotope analysis (Won et al. 2007). Setting the wrong baseline also led to serious overestimation of the TP for the planktivorous Japanese anchovy *Engraulis japonicus* (e.g., James 1988), which was estimated to be predatory according to the bulk isotope analysis (Miyachi et al. 2015).

In this study, we applied CSIA-AA to a collection of fish and squid species from Sagami Bay to estimate their TPs and evaluate their dependence on isotopically distinct inorganic nitrogen inputs. Moreover, based on the TPs and the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids of these organisms, the diversity of isotopic baselines (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}$ N value of primary resources at the base of food webs) for these species appears to represent differences in their preferential habitat at the level of species and individuals for this coastal area.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Sample collection

In May 2010, we used a fixed shore net to collect 13 fish and 1 squid species (Table 2-1-1) from a coastal area in Sagami Bay, Japan (35° 37' N, 139° 25' E) (Fig. 2-1-1). Sagami Bay is located in the southwest of Tokyo Bay, and is connected to the Pacific Ocean. Two major rivers (Sakawa and Hayakawa) near the study site deliver a large amount of agricultural nutrients from farms (including rice, vegetable, and fruit farms) to Sagami Bay. The squid Todarodes pacificus, the bluefin searobin Chelidonichthys spinosus, and the marbled flounder Pseudopleuronectes yokohamae were collected as representatives of offshore-pelagic, offshore-benthic, and migrating-benthic species, respectively. The other fish were classified as coastal- or migrating-pelagic species based on body shapes (i.e., fusiform for 8 species and compressiform for 3 species, Table 2-1-1); fusiform fishes are characterized by a streamlined body shape for swimming long distances across offshore and coastal areas, whereas compressiform species are characterized by a laterally compressed body shape for producing quick bursts of speed for living in coastal areas (e.g., Roy et al. 2007). All studied fish and squid are ammonotelic, and we analyzed only adult fish and squid in the present study. The collected samples were cleaned with filtered seawater to remove surface contaminants and stored at -20°C before analysis.

**Table 2-1-1.** The δ<sup>15</sup>N values of amino acids, the δ<sup>15</sup>N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values, and the TP for fish and squid investigated in this study. Dash line (--): the form of fish does not belong to compressiform and fusiform; n.d.: not detectable. CA: *Cypselurus agoo*, CS: *Chelidonichthys spinosus*, EJ: *Evynnis japonica*, ET: *Etrumeus teres*, LJ: *Lateolabrax japonicus*, PA: *Psenopsis anomala*, PJ: *Pneumatophorus japonicus*, PT: *Parapristipoma trilineatum*, PY: *Pseudopleuronectes yokohamae*, SC: *Stephanolepis cirrhifer*, TJ: *Trachurus japonicus*, TM: *Thamnaconus modestus*, TP: *Todarodes pacificus*, UH: *Uraspis helvola*. C: compressiform, F: fusiform, BLP: δ<sup>15</sup>N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub>.

Scientific	F	Length					$\delta^{15}N$					DID	TD
name	(cm)	Ala	Gly	Val	Leu	Ile	Pro	Ser	Glu	Phe	BLP	IP	
EJ	С												
1		15.8	41.4	20.3	33.9	40.4	37.6	41.8	15.4	41.2	19.0	18.1	3.5
2		15.8	40.9	20.8	35.6	40.2	37.9	42.0	18.3	41.2	18.6	17.6	3.5
3		15.8	41.5	19.2	34.0	37.3	36.4	45.9	19.5	42.0	19.2	18.2	3.6
CS													
1		25.3	n.d.	14.5	29.1	25.7	30.1	n.d.	n.d.	31.2	8.5	7.4	3.5
2		25.3	n.d.	15.1	27.1	25.0	30.8	n.d.	n.d.	29.1	7.1	6.2	3.4
3		25.3	n.d.	15.1	30.9	25.6	29.6	n.d.	n.d.	29.2	7.8	6.8	3.4
UH	F												
1		16.7	38.5	14.1	42.4	30.7	34.3	34.6	13.1	37.2	17.5	16.7	3.1
2		16.7	36.0	15.6	47.4	30.2	30.0	32.4	14.4	38.9	19.7	18.8	3.1
3		16.7	34.8	14.6	46.8	37.0	36.7	38.6	12.4	41.8	22.0	21.1	3.2
SC	С												
1		16.2	38.9	16.3	36.0	27.8	26.9	34.6	10.9	37.6	18.5	17.7	3.1
2		16.2	38.0	20.8	38.4	27.2	29.0	36.1	14.6	37.1	19.3	18.6	2.9
3		16.2	36.0	18.7	39.0	32.3	30.2	43.7	11.5	37.1	18.1	17.2	3.1
PA	С												
1		17.1	39.9	13.2	39.9	39.5	38.2	n.d.	n.d.	40.7	20.2	19.3	3.3
2		17.1	38.1	10.5	38.2	38.3	37.9	n.d.	n.d.	40.9	19.4	18.5	3.4
3		17.1	38.0	7.5	40.3	37.7	39.0	n.d.	n.d.	40.3	18.1	17.1	3.5

,												-	
PY	F												ļ
1		16.3	34.3	18.1	33.0	28.4	27.9	30.8	n.d.	30.3	12.5	11.7	2.9
2		16.3	27.7	19.1	33.8	24.8	31.3	30.1	n.d.	26.2	8.1	7.4	2.9
3		16.3	30.7	17.7	28.5	32.0	24.8	26.8	n.d.	30.1	10.4	9.6	3.1
TJ	F												
1		18.6	34.9	6.7	29.6	32.6	29.7	n.d.	n.d.	35.0	14.8	13.9	3.2
2		18.6	31.9	6.3	27.0	27.5	23.8	n.d.	n.d.	29.5	9.9	9.1	3.1
3		18.6	36.6	8.2	32.2	39.6	28.3	n.d.	n.d.	36.7	17.1	16.3	3.1
PJ	F												ļ
1		27.6	38.0	4.9	38.4	34.3	32.0	n.d.	n.d.	34.1	14.9	14.1	3.1
2		27.6	36.0	3.3	32.1	37.1	30.3	n.d.	n.d.	31.9	12.2	11.4	3.1
3		27.6	38.5	2.5	42.4	35.2	29.0	n.d.	n.d.	37.4	17.0	16.1	3.2
PT	F												
1		14.9	32.0	8.3	30.1	31.6	26.3	n.d.	n.d.	33.5	13.5	12.6	3.2
2		14.9	27.4	11.4	25.3	27.1	25.7	n.d.	n.d.	29.7	10.5	9.7	3.1
3		14.9	24.4	12.0	21.9	26.5	23.0	n.d.	n.d.	25.0	5.5	4.6	3.1
TM	F												
1		26.2	23.5	13.7	28.1	29.8	27.0	n.d.	n.d.	32.2	12.6	11.8	3.1
2		26.2	26.6	18.4	24.1	33.8	25.9	n.d.	n.d.	28.5	9.9	9.1	3.0
3		26.2	30.7	21.0	23.4	31.4	26.6	n.d.	n.d.	30.9	10.4	9.5	3.3
CA	F												
1		26.2	26.8	3.6	28.8	28.5	29.8	n.d.	8.5	29.4	11.7	11.0	2.9
2		26.2	23.3	6.1	33.7	27.6	30.9	4.0	11.1	27.2	9.0	8.3	2.9
3		26.2	24.4	4.9	34.0	23.7	30.5	3.8	13.5	28.3	10.4	9.6	2.9
TP													
1		19.9	38.1	4.6	32.9	34.6	28.5	37.4	11.1	33.5	10.1	9.0	3.6
2		19.9	41.1	7.4	32.9	37.8	30.5	37.6	11.8	32.9	10.6	9.6	3.5
LJ	F												
1		34.7	45.5	12.3	40.8	40.2	35.6	34.3	n.d.	41.0	15.1	13.9	4.0
2		34.7	44.3	13.8	40.3	39.6	35.3	35.8	n.d.	43.2	17.9	16.8	3.9
3		34.7	46.2	13.3	41.0	37.1	33.3	39.3	n.d.	40.0	14.7	13.5	3.9
ET	F												
1		19.4	30.1	3.9	36.6	30.4	32.0	n.d.	4.3	32.1	12.7	11.8	3.1
2		19.4	32.2	3.8	30.4	30.9	30.5	n.d.	-2.0	32.0	12.9	12.0	3.1
3		19.4	35.0	1.8	39.4	34.0	30.4	n.d.	4.3	35.2	15.5	14.6	3.1



#### Fig. 2-1-1.

Sagami Bay, Japan. Open square marks the sampling site for this study. Sites of previous studies marked as follows: filled triangle, Chikaraishi et al. (2014); filled diamond, Miyachi et al. (2015). Arrows represent the Kuroshio and its branched currents.

#### 2.2. Isotope analysis

Muscle tissues were taken from these samples and prepared for the isotopic analysis. The nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids was determined by the procedure in Chikaraishi et al. (2009). In brief, the muscle tissues were hydrolyzed with 12 N HCl at 110°C for overnight (>12 hours). The hydrolysate was washed with *n*-

hexane/dichloromethane (3/2, v/v) to remove hydrophobic constituents. Then, derivatizations were performed sequentially with thionyl chloride/2-propanol (1/4) and pivaloyl chloride/dichloromethane (1/4). The N-pivaloyl/isopropyl (Pv/iPr) esters of amino acids were extracted with *n*-hexane/dichloromethane (3/2, v/v). The nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids was determined by gas chromatography/isotope ratio mass spectrometry (GC/IRMS) (Chikaraishi et al. 2014). To assess the reproducibility of the isotope measurement and obtain the amino acid isotopic composition, reference mixtures of nine amino acids (alanine, glycine, leucine, norleucine. aspartic acid, methionine, glutamic acid, phenylalanine, and hydroxyproline) with known  $\delta^{15}$ N values (-26.6‰ to 45.7‰, Indiana University, Shoko science co.) were derivatized to Pv/iPr esters and analyzed after every four to six samples runs, and three pulses of reference N<sub>2</sub> gas were discharged into the IRMS instrument at the beginning and end of each chromatography run for both reference mixtures and samples. The isotopic composition of amino acids in samples was expressed relative to atmospheric nitrogen (AIR) on scales normalized to known  $\delta^{15}N$ values of the reference amino acids. The accuracy and precision for the reference mixtures were always 0.0% (mean of  $\Delta$ ) and 0.4%-0.7% (mean of  $1\sigma$ ), respectively, for sample sizes of  $\ge 1.0$  nmol N. We note that glutamine was converted into glutamic acid during the acid hydrolysis, resulting in that the  $\delta^{15}N$  value of glutamic acid was combined glutamic acid itself and  $\alpha$ - amino group of glutamine (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). In this study, we obtained the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of six amino acids (glycine, valine, leucine,

isoleucine, glutamic acid, and phenylalanine) for all species and three amino acids (alanine, proline, and serine) for several species based on the peak intensity and separation on the GC/IRMS chromatogram.

#### 2.3. Calculation of TP and isotopic baseline

The TP of samples was calculated based on the comparison of large (3‰-8‰) and small (0‰-1‰) trophic discrimination factors (TDF) between trophic (e.g., glutamic acid and alanine) and source amino acids (e.g., phenylalanine and methionine), respectively (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2007; McCarthy et al. 2007; Popp et al. 2007). Indeed, the distinct TDF between glutamic acid and phenylalanine has been frequently used to calculate the TP of diverse organisms including fish (Chikaraishi et al. 2014; Steffan et al. 2015), based on the following equation:

$$TP = (\delta^{15}N_{Glu} - \delta^{15}N_{Phe} - \beta) / TDF_{Glu-Phe} + 1$$
 (2-1-1)

where  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  represent the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of glutamic acid and phenylalanine, respectively, in a studied organism,  $\beta$  represents a constant offset between  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  values in primary producers (e.g., 3.4‰, Chikaraishi et al. 2009), TDF<sub>Glu-Phe</sub> represents the difference in the TDF between glutamic acid and phenylalanine in consumers (e.g., 7.6‰, Chikaraishi et al. 2009).

Moreover, the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of source AAs in high TP consumers represent the mean  $\delta^{15}$ N value of primary producers (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline</sub>, which is approximately equal to the mean  $\delta^{15}$ N value of inorganic nitrogen in tropical and temperate areas, e.g., Altabet et

al. 1994; Minagawa and Wada 1986) (Fig. 2-1-2). Because there is a small TDF in phenylalanine (e.g., 0.4‰ for each trophic level, Chikaraishi et al. 2009), the equation (2-1-2) were used to minimize this effect, and the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values were obtained to compare the resource utilization among samples:

$$\delta^{15} N_{\text{Baseline,Phe}} = \delta^{15} N_{\text{Phe}} - 0.4 (\text{TP} - 1)$$
 (2-1-2)



#### Fig. 2-1-2.

Relationship of  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$ ,  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$ , and  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$ . Phe: phenylalanine, TP: trophic position. Shaded bar: isotopic fractionation associated with phenylalanine synthesis in primary producers.

#### 3. Results

The  $\delta^{15}$ N values vary from 5.5‰ to 22.0‰ for phenylalanine (14.0 ± 4.3‰, as mean ± 1 $\sigma$  standard deviation) and from 25.0‰ to 43.2‰ for glutamic acid (34.4 ± 5.1‰) in the studied species (Table 2-1-1). Among these species, the chicken grunt *Parapristipoma trilineatum* and the seabass *Lateolabrax japonicus* have the lowest and highest  $\delta^{15}$ N values of glutamic acid ( $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Glu</sub>), respectively, whereas *P. trilineatum* and the whitetongue jack *Uraspis helvola* have the lowest and highest  $\delta^{15}$ N values of phenylalanine ( $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Phe</sub>), respectively.



#### Fig. 2-1-3.

The relationship of (A)  $TP_{Glu/Phe}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and (B)  $TP_{Glu/Phe}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  for the investigated fish and squid.

The mean  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  values for each species of thirteen fish and one squid (Fig. 2-1-4) are plotted along the trophoclines that defined from equation (1) with a slope of 1.0 for each TP and an interval of 7.6% for each trophic transfer in food webs

(e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2014; Bowes and Thorp 2015; Nielsen et al. 2015; Steffan et al. 2013). Notwithstanding a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  value, the TP values vary only between 2.9 (e.g., flyingfish *Cypselurus agoo*) and 3.9 (*L. japonicus*) (Table 2-1-1, Fig. 2-1-4), and do not correlate with the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.02, *p* = 0.4). The TP values significantly but weakly correlate with the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of glutamic acid (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.30, *p* = 0.0002, Fig. 2-1-3A) and do not correlate with those of phenylalanine (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.02, *p* = 0.318, Fig. 2-1-3B). For example, the bluefin searobin *Chelidonichthys spinosus* and the crimson seabream *Evynnis japonica* have the same TP value (3.5 ± 0.1 and 3.5 ± 0.1, respectively), although there are large differences in their  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  (29.8 ± 1.2 and 41.5 ± 0.5, respectively) and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  values (7.8 ± 0.7 and 18.9 ± 0.3, respectively) between these two species (Table 2-1-1).

The  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (13.1 ± 4.3‰) follow the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Phe}}$  values, ranging from 4.6‰ (*P. trilineatum* 3) to 21.1‰ (*U. helvola* 3) among studied samples (Table 2-1-1). The variability in the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value is species-dependent, as exemplified by the smallest (1 $\sigma$  = 0.6‰) and largest (1 $\sigma$  = 8.0‰) variation for *E. japonica* and *P. trilineatum*, respectively. The TP does not correlate with the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.02, *p* = 0.4).



#### Fig. 2-1-4.

Cross-plot of the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of glutamic acid (Glu) and phenylalanine (Phe). Lines represent integer trophic positions (TPs, i.e., 2, 3, 4, and 5) estimated with equation (2-1-1). Numbers in brackets show the mean  $\pm$  SD of TP for the species. See Table 2-1-1 for fish abbreviations.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

#### 4.1. Food web structure

The trophoclines defined by the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of trophic and source amino acids have been used to understand the food web structure, not only in terms of trophic position but also in the simultaneous interpretation of isotopic baselines (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2014; Bowes and Thorp, 2015; Steffan et al. 2015; Nielsen et al. 2015). In two dimensional trophocline space, all samples are expected to fall within a relatively vertical line when there is a single food chain starting from isotopically uniform primary producers in the studied area. Alternatively, the samples are expected to distribute along the trophoclines, according to their proximities to the mean of their diet resources, when there are multiple food chains that have multiple, isotopically distinct primary producers (Chikaraishi et al. 2014). For instance, the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of phenylalanine can be directly used as isotopic baseline for illustrating the trophocline, because of its small TDF (0.4‰ for each trophic level) (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2014; Ohkouchi et al. 2017).

In this study, the trophocline space defined by the  $\delta^{15}$ N of glutamic acid and phenylalanine illustrates a food web structure with TP varying from 2.9 to 3.9 among species. Nine species (e.g., *P. yokohamae*) are secondary consumers (TP = 3.1 ± 0.1), one species (i.e., *L. japonicus*) is a tertiary consumer (TP = 3.9 ± 0.0), and the other four species occupies intermediate positions (TP = 3.5 ± 0.1). These results are consistent with the expected TP of the studied fish and squid species, as reported in the literatures: for instance, *L. japonicus* and the sardine *Etrumeus teres* were characterized as zooplanktivorous and piscivorous fish, respectively (Nip et al. 2003; Falautano et al. 2006); also, the estimated TP of *P. trilineatum* (TP =  $3.1 \pm 0.1$ ) in the studied area is equivalent to the value reported by Chikaraishi et al. (2014) for this species collected from a different area in Sagami Bay (TP =  $2.9 \pm 0.1$ ).

Based on the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of phenylalanine (i.e., isotopic baseline), we infer the existence of multiple distinct food chains for the fish and squid species investigated. The offshore-pelagic and offshore-benthic species (e.g., *P. yokohamae*) belong to food chains characterized by low baseline values (6.8‰ to 9.3‰), the compressiform species (e.g., *E. japonica*) belong to food chains with high baseline values (17.8‰ to 18.3‰), and fusiform species (e.g., *L. japonicus*) belong to food chains with intermediate baseline values (9.6‰ to 18.9‰). These results are consistent with our expectation of a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}$ N baseline value in Sagami Bay (Won et al. 2007; Miyachi et al. 2015).

#### 4.2 Effect of $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values on the TP

A large variation of the  $\delta^{15}$ N values at the base of food webs theoretically represents diversity in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of nutrient sources. Alterations in these sources pose potential risks for the preservation of ecological conditions, primary production, and ultimately food web structures (e.g., Cabana and Rasmussen, 1996; Hicks et al. 2016; Baeta et al. 2017). In this study, variability in the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> value between individuals of a single species is species dependent (Table 2-1-1). Indeed, a small variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value is found for all the offshore-pelagic and offshorebenthic species, as well as for the three compressiform species (Fig. 2-1-5 a and b, respectively), whereas the eight fusiform species (Fig. 2-1-5 c) have a much larger variability. In contrast, for all species investigated in this study, the variation in the TP within species is small  $(1\sigma = 0.1)$  (Fig. 2-1-4). For instance, no substantial difference in the TP is found among three individuals of P. trilineatum  $(3.1 \pm 0.1\%)$ , despite their variable  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values (9.0 ± 4.1‰). However, *E. japonica* has a low variability in both TP (3.5  $\pm$  0.1‰) and  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value (17.9  $\pm$  0.3‰) among the three specimens investigated. In addition to the no correlation between TP and  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline, phe}$ values when all species were pooled, these results suggest that the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values do not affect the TP of organisms in Sagami Bay. Although the investigation of the underlying cause is out of the scope of this study, our findings imply that the participation of different sources of inorganic nitrogen has not affected the size of food chains in the study area.


#### Fig. 2-1-5.

Diversity in the  $\delta^{15}$ N with respect to their habitats (i.e., offshore vs. coastal, and pelagic vs. benthic). Vertical dashed lines demarcate the coastal and offshore regions. See Table 2-2-1 for fish abbreviations

#### 4.3 Habitats

Agricultural runoff (e.g., rice, vegetables, and fruits), as well as artificial dams, and wastewater treatment plants frequently cause anoxic conditions. In these conditions, denitrification produces N<sub>2</sub> gas, enriched in <sup>14</sup>N and leaving behind a pool of <sup>15</sup>Nenriched nitrate (e.g., Kellman and Marcel, 2003; Sebilo et al. 2006). The abundance of nutrients with high  $\delta^{15}N$  is temporally dependent on agricultural cycles and precipitation, and they are incorporated into the Bay and mixed with the coastal water by ocean currents. The spatial-dependence of such inputs is likely explanation of the difference between the results of this study, with high and variable  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  (13.0  $\pm 4.1\%$ ), and the low and homogeneous values (4.6  $\pm 1.1\%$ ) found in the previous study site (Chikaraishi et al. 2014) within in Sagami Bay. This is simply consistent with our expectation that isotopically-distinct multiple inorganic nitrogen forms are introduced in the food web of our study site but not in the previous site. We conclude that our study site has been considerably affected by agricultural- and artificially-derived nutrient inputs, while the latter has been affected by natural sources of nutrients, with negligible inputs of agricultural- and artificially-derived nutrients (Chikaraishi et al. 2014).

Low  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values for *T. pacificus* and *C. spinosus* (Fig.2-1-5) can be attributed to their preferential use of offshore-pelagic and offshore-benthic habitats, respectively (Watanabe et al. 1996 and Byun et al. 2018), where a lower contribution from agricultural and artificial nutrient inputs relative to the coastal area can be expected. In contrast, high  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values of three compressiform fish species (i.e., E. japonica, the Pacific rudderfish Psenopsi anomala, and the threadsail filefish Stephanolepis cirrhifer) inhabiting the coastal area (Yamaoka et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2004), can be attributed to a large contribution from agricultural and artificial nutrient inputs. The other nine fish are migrating fusiform and benthic species, as they are found in a variety of habitats extending from offshore to coastal areas (Wada 2007; Fuji et al. 2011). The use of a wide range of habitats is consistent with highly variable  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values overlapping those of specialized offshore and coastal species. Interestingly, there is a large individual variability in the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> value within the migrating fusiform species. In the case of T. japonicus, the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values of three individuals were 9.1‰, 13.9‰, and 16.3‰. Applying a two-end member mixing model, with reference baseline values of 7.8‰ and 18.0‰ for offshore and coastal habitats, respectively, we can estimate the offshore: coastal habitat ratio of these specimens as 9:1, 2:3, and 1:4, respectively. These results imply that each of individuals uses both habitats differently, maybe because they pertained to independent groups or subpopulations of this species. Based on these results, the large difference in the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value among the species in this study reveals diversity in the use of habitats (i.e., offshore vs. costal) at the level of species and of individuals, respectively, even though they are collected from a single study site.

# 5. Conclusion

The CSIA-AA method provides greater resolution to trophic position estimation (vs. traditional bulk methods, per Chikaraishi et al. 2009), and has been used to elucidate the trophic structure of food webs characterized by two isotopically-distinct primary producers (algae vs. seagrass: Choi et al. 2017, algae vs. terrestrial plants: Ishikawa et al. 2018). In the present study, we illustrated the trophic tendencies of fish and squid species with a wide range of isotopically-distinct primary producers (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  ranging from 4.6‰ to 21.2‰), and show a large diversity in the habitat use among and within species. These findings further proof the applicability of the CSIA-AA method to food web studies in which there is a large variation among  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$  values, which can cause large errors in trophic position estimation when using the traditional bulk isotope method.

# References

- Altabet M. A., Francois R. (1994) Sedimentary nitrogen isotopic ratio as a recorder for surface ocean nitrate utilization. *Glob. Biogeochem. Cycle* 8 (1): 103-116.
- Baek S. H., Shimode S., Kim H., Han M. S. and others (2009) Strong bottom–up effects on phytoplankton community caused by a rainfall during spring and summer in Sagami Bay, Japan. *J Marine Syst* 75: 253-264.
- Bowes R. E. and Thorp J. H. (2015) Consequences of employing amino acid vs. bulk-tissue, stable isotope analysis: a laboratory trophic position experiment. *Ecosphere* 6: 1-12.
- Byun G. H., Moon H. B., Choi J. H., Hwang J., Kang C. K. (2013) Biomagnification of persistent chlorinated and brominated contaminants in food web components of the Yellow Sea. *Mar Pollut Bull* 73: 210-219.
- Cabana G., Rasmussen J. B. (1996) Comparison of aquatic food chains using nitrogen isotopes. *P Natl A Sci* 93: 10844-10847.
- Carscallen W. M. A., Vandenberg K., Lawson J. M., Martinez N. D. and others (2012)
  Estimating trophic position in marine and estuarine food webs. *Ecosphere* 3(3): 1-20.
- Chikaraishi Y., Kashiyama Y., Ogawa N. O., Kitazato H., Ohkouchi N. (2007) Metabolic control of nitrogen isotope composition of amino acids in macroalgae and gastropods: implications for aquatic food web studies. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 342: 85-90.
- Chikaraishi Y., Ogawa N. O., Kashiyama Y., Yakano Y. and others (2009) Determination of aquatic food - web structure based on compound - specific nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Limnol Oceanogr-Meth* 7: 740-750.
- Chikaraishi Y., Steffan S. A., Ogawa N. O., Ishikawa N. F. and others (2014) High resolution food webs based on nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Ecol and Evol* 4: 2423-2449.

- Choi B., Ha S.Y., Lee J. S., Chikaraishi Y. and others (2017) Trophic interaction among organisms in a seagrass meadow ecosystem as revealed by bulk  $\delta^{13}$ C and amino acid  $\delta^{15}$ N analyses. *Limnol Oceanogr* 62: 1426-1435.
- Conley D. J., Paerl H. W., Howarth R. W., Boesch D. F. and others (2009) Controlling eutrophication: nitrogen and phosphorus. *Science* 323, 1014-1015.
- DeNiro M. J., Epstein S. (1981) Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. *Geochimi Cosmochim Ac* 45: 341-351.
- Falautano M., Castriota L., Andaloro F. (2006) First record of *Etrumeus teres* (Clupeidae) in the central Mediterranean Sea. *Cybium* 30 (3): 287-288.
- Fourqurean J. W., Moore T. O., Fry B., Hollibaugh J. T. (1997) Spatial and temporal variation in C: N: P ratios, δ<sup>15</sup>N, and δ<sup>13</sup>C of eelgrass Zostera marina as indicators of ecosystem processes, Tomales Bay, California, USA. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 157: 147-157.
- Fry B. (2006) Using Stable Isotope Tracers. In: Slobodien J, Avouris A (eds) Stable isotope ecology. Springer, New, York.
- Fuji T., Kasai A., Suzuki K. W., Ueno M., Yamashita Y. (2011) Migration ecology of juvenile temperate seabass Lateolabrax japonicus: a carbon stable - isotope approach. *J Fish Biol* 78: 2010-2025.
- Fujiki T., Toda T., Kikuchi T., Aono H. and others (2004) Phosphorus limitation of primary productivity during the spring-summer blooms in Sagami Bay, Japan. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 283: 29-38.
- Gaebler O. H., Vitti T. G., Vukmirovich R. (1996) Isotope effects in metabolism of <sup>14</sup>N and <sup>15</sup>N from unlabeled dietary proteins. *Can. J. Biochem.* 44 (9): 1249-1257.
- Iken K., Bluhm B., Dunton K. (2010) Benthic food-web structure under differing water mass properties in the southern Chukchi Sea. *Deep-Sea Res. Part II- Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 57 (1-2): 71-85.

- Jackson J. B. C., Kirby M. X., Berger W. H., Bjorndal K. A. and others (2001) Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science* 293: 629-637.
- James A. G. (1988) Are clupeid microphagists herbivorous or omnivorous? A review of the diets of some commercially important clupeids. *South Afr. J. Mar. Sci.* 7 (1): 161-177.
- Ishikawa N. F., Chikaraishi Y., Takano Y., Sasaki Y. (2018) A new analytical method for determination of the nitrogen isotopic composition of methionine: Its application to aquatic ecosystems with mixed resources. *Limnol Oceanogr-Meth* 16: 607-620.
- Kellman L.M., Hillaire-Marcel C. (2003) Evaluation of nitrogen isotopes as indicators of nitrate contamination sources in an agricultural watershed. *Agr, Ecosyst Environ* 95: 87-102.
- McCarthy M. D., Benner R., Lee C., Fogel M. L. (2007) Amino acid nitrogen isotopic fractionation patterns as indicators of heterotrophy in plankton, particulate, and dissolved organic matter. *Geochimi Cosmochim Ac* 71: 4727-4744.
- McClelland J.W., Montoya J. P. (2002) Trophic relationships and the nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids in plankton. *Ecology* 83 (8): 2173-2180.
- McMahon K.W., McCarthy M.D. (2016) Embracing variability in amino acid  $\delta^{15}$ N fractionation: mechanisms, implications, and applications for trophic ecology. *Ecosphere* 7 (12): e01511.
- Minagawa M., Wada E. (1986) Nitrogen isotope ratios of red tide organisms in the East China Sea: a characterization of biological nitrogen fixation. *Mar. Chem.* 19 (3): 245-259.
- Miyachi S., Mayahara T., Tsushima K., Sasada Ket. and others (2015) Approach to determine individual trophic level and the difference in food sources of Japanese anchovy *Engraulis japonicus* in Sagami Bay, based on compound-specific nitrogen stable isotope analysis of amino acids. *Fisheries Sci* 81: 1053-1062.

- Morra K. E., Chikaraishi Y., Gandhi H., James H. F. and others (2019) Trophic declines and decadal-scale foraging segregation in three pelagic seabirds. *Oecologia* 189: 395-406.
- Nielsen J. M., Popp B. N., Winder M. (2015) Meta-analysis of amino acid stable nitrogen isotope ratios for estimating trophic position in marine organisms. *Oecologia* 178: 631-642.
- Nip T. H. M., Ho W. Y., Wong C. K. (2003) Feeding ecology of larval and juvenile black seabream (*Acanthopagrus schlegeli*) and Japanese seaperch (*Lateolabrax japonicus*) in Tolo Harbour, Hong Kong. *Biol. Fishes* 66 (2): 197-209.
- O'reilly C. M., Hecky R. E., Cohen A. S., Plisnier P-D. (2002) Interpreting stable isotopes in food webs: recognizing the role of time averaging at different trophic levels. *Limnol Oceanogr* 47 (1): 306-309.
- Ohkouchi N., Chikaraishi Y., Close H. G., Fry B. and others (2017) Advances in the application of amino acid nitrogen isotopic analysis in ecological and biogeochemical studies. *Org Geochem* 113: 150-174.
- Ostrom P. H., Wiley A. E., James H. F., Rossman S. and others (2017) Broad-scale trophic shift in the pelagic North Pacific revealed by an oceanic seabird. *P Roy Soc B Bio* 284: 20162436.
- Popp B. N., Graham B. S., Olson R. J., Hannides C. C. S. and others (2007) Insight into the trophic ecology of yellowfin tuna, Thunnus albacares, from compound specific nitrogen isotope analysis of proteinaceous amino acids. *Terr Ecol* 1: 173-190.
- Post D. M. (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. *Ecology* 83: 703-718.
- Roy D., Docker M. F., Haffner G. D., Heath D. D. (2007) Body shape vs. colour associated initial divergence in the Telmatherina radiation in Lake Matano, Sulawesi, Indonesia. J. Evol. Biol 20 (3): 1126-1137.

- Sebilo M., Billen G., Mayer B., Billiou D. (2006) Assessing nitrification and denitrification in the Seine River and estuary using chemical and isotopic techniques. *Ecosystems* 9 (4): 564-577.
- Sweeting C. J., Jennings S., Polunin N. V. C. (2005) Variance in isotopic signatures as a descriptor of tissue turnover and degree of omnivory. *Funct Ecol* 19 (5): 777-784.
- Steffan S. A., Chikaraishi Y., Currie C. R., Horn H. and others (2015) Microbes are trophic analogs of animals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 112: 15119-15124.
- Steffan S. A., Chikaraishi Y., Horton D. R., Ohkouchi O. and others (2013) Trophic hierarchies illuminated via amino acid isotopic analysis. *PloS one*, 8 (9): e76152.
- Tiselius P., Fransson K. (2016) Daily changes in  $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C stable isotopes in copepods: equilibrium dynamics and variations of trophic level in the field. *J Plankt Res* 38 (3): 751-761.
- Vander Zanden M. J., Rasmussen J. B. (1996) A trophic position model of pelagic food webs: impact on contaminant bioaccumulation in lake trout. *Ecol Monog* 66: 451-477.
- Vander Zanden M. J., Cabana G., Rasmussen J. B. (1997) Comparing trophic position of freshwater fish calculated using stable nitrogen isotope ratios (δ<sup>15</sup>N) and literature dietary data. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci* 54: 1142-1158.
- Wada E., Terazaki M., Kabaya Y., Nemoto T. (1987) <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>13</sup>C abundances in the Antartic Ocean with emphasis on the biogeochemical structure of the food web. *Deep-sea Res Pt I* 34: 829-841.
- Wada T., Aritaki M., Yamashita Y., Tanaka M. (2007) Comparison of low-salinity adaptability and morphological development during the early life history of five pleuronectid flatfishes, and implications for migration and recruitment to their nurseries. J Sea Res 58: 241-254.
- Wang Y. H., Liu S. F., Yang Y. R. (2004) Parabothriocephalus psenopsis n. sp. (Eucestoda: Pseudophyllidea) in Psenopsis anomala from the Taiwan Strait, China. J parasitol 90: 623-625.

- Watanabe K., Sakurai Y., Segawa S., Okutani T. (1996) Development of the ommastrephid squid Todarodes pacificus, from fertilized egg to the rhynchoteuthion paralarva. *Am Malacol Bull* 13: 73-88.
- Won N. I., Kawamura T., Onitsuka T., Hayakawa J. (2007) Community and trophic structures of abalone *Haliotis diversicolor* habitat in Sagami Bay, Japan. *Fisheries Sci* 73: 1123-1136.
- Wren C. D., Stephenson G. L. (1991) The effect of acidification on the accumulation and toxicity of metals to freshwater invertebrates. *Environ Pollut* 71: 205-241.
- Yamaoka K., Sasaki M., Kudoh T., Kanda M. (2003) Differences in food composition between territorial and aggregative juvenile crimson seabream *Evynnis japonica*. *Fisheries Sci* 69: 50-57.

# 2-2. Tissue-specific $\delta^{15}N$ values of amino acids in aquatic organisms: Implication to the ecological food web studies

# Abstract

Compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA), particularly for nitrogen in muscle tissues of organisms, has been used for identifying trophic position (TP) of them and baseline (e.g., plants, phytoplankton, etc.) of food webs to illustrate trophic transfer and linkage in ecosystems. However, little is known whether or not other tissues such as scale and blood can be employed as samples for the CSIA-AA. In this study, we compared the tissue-specific  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in several aquatic organisms including fish (e.g., for muscle, scale, blood, bone, etc.), gastropods (i.e., for muscle vs shell protein), and a turtle (i.e., for yolk vs embryo) to evaluate applicability of these tissues in the CSIA-AA. The results reveal that the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in muscle are substantially identical to those in scale, fin, and yolk of fish as well as in shell of gastropods, but not to those in internal tissues (e.g., blood, embryo, etc.). Based on these results, we concluded that the former tissues (e.g., scale and shell) are applicable as alternatives to muscle whereas the latter tissues will be required further evaluation, if we can use them in the CSIA-AA.

This section was already submitted to Res. Org. Geochem.

## 1. Introduction

Compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) of nitrogen isotopes (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}N$  values) has been employed as a powerful tool in ecological food web studies, in particular through identifying the trophic position (TP) of organisms and baseline (e.g., plants and phytoplankton as diet resources) of food webs, based on the distinct elevation in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value (i.e., trophic discrimination factor, TDF) among amino acids in consumers during each trophic transfer (e.g., Chikaraishi et al. 2007; McCarthy et al. 2007; Popp et al. 2007). The illustration of TP and diet resources among organisms in food webs simply provides a valuable framework for evaluating diet-consumer relationships and tracking nutrient flow in food webs (e.g., Lindeman 1942).

Whole or muscle tissues of organisms have been employed commonly as samples for the CSIA-AA, although the collection of these tissues from target organisms inflicts serious physical damage in the life of these organisms. This is a problem in the application of CSIA-AA if we have limitations to access whole or muscle tissues of organisms, or if we investigate isotopic characteristics changing with time in a single organism. For example, several scientists have reported the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids from other tissues such as scale, fin, and blood, which are generally non-lethally compared to muscle, in their studies (e.g., Germain et al. 2013; Chikaraishi et al. 2014; Sugaya et al. 2019). Moreover, we simply expect that some other specific tissues in the pre-hatching stage may have different  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids compared to the post-hatching stage, because of difference in the nutrient source between these stages (i.e., yolk and diets, respectively). However, little is known whether or not these specific tissues are applicable as alternatives to muscle (i.e., the substantially same values to muscle, as plotted on 1:1 line) if we apply these tissues to the CSIA-AA in diverse fields of science.

In this study, we evaluated the tissue-specific  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in several aquatic organisms including fish (e.g., for muscle vs scale, blood, bone, etc.), gastropods (i.e., for muscle vs shell protein), and a turtle (i.e., for yolk vs embryo). Based on the results, we discussed which tissues are applicable as alternatives to muscle for the CSIA-AA.

## 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Materials

For comparing the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids between muscle and other tissues within a single fish, the Japanese horse mackerel *Trachurus japonicus* (approximately 20 cm length) was collected by fishing from a beach in Yugawara (35°08'N, 139°07' E), Japan, and dissected to nine tissues: muscle and scale (dorsal-muscle and-scale); fin (caudal fin); eye; heart; gill; liver; blood; and bone (dorsal spine).

For comparing the values between muscle and shell protein, the published data on the three gastropods (i.e., Japanese abalone *Haliotis discus*, horned turban *Turbo sazae*, and commercial trochus *Omphalius pfeifferi*) are available in the previous study

(Chikaraishi et al. 2014). The data for the latest growth increment of shell (approximately 5 mm width) were used in that study to minimize possible effect of variation in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value for whole life of the gastropods.

For comparing the values between yolk and embryo, the false kelpfish *Sebastiscus marmoratus* and the hawksbill sea turtle *Eretmochelys imbricate* were used in this study. The *S. marmoratus* (approximately 20 cm length), an ovoviviparous fish, was collected by fishing from a stony shore in Yugawara, Japan, and dissected to three parts: muscle (dorsal-muscle); yolk and embryo (in developed egg). The *E. imbricata* was reared in Okinawa Churaumi Aquarium. Its developed egg was collected and dissected to two parts: embryo's leg and yolk.

## 2.2. CSIA-AA

The samples were dried with a freeze-drier and kept in  $-20^{\circ}$ C before analysis. The nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids was determined by the procedure in Chikaraishi et al. (2009). In brief, the sample was hydrolyzed with 12 N HCl at 110°C for overnight (>12 hours). The hydrolysate was washed with *n*-hexane/dichloromethane (3/2, v/v) to remove hydrophobic constituents. Then, derivatizations were performed sequentially with thionvl chloride/2-propanol (1/4)and pivaloyl chloride/dichloromethane (1/4). The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids was determined by gas chromatography/isotope ratio mass spectrometry (GC/IRMS). The isotopic composition of amino acids in samples was expressed relative to atmospheric nitrogen

 $(\delta^{15}N_{AIR} = 0 \%)$  on scales normalized to known  $\delta^{15}N$  values of the reference amino acids (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). The accuracy and precision for the reference mixtures were always 0.0‰ (mean of  $\Delta$ ) and 0.4‰ to 0.7‰ (mean of 1 $\sigma$ ), respectively, for sample sizes of  $\geq 1.0$  nmol N. In this study, we obtained the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of 7 amino acids (alanine, glycine, valine, leucine, isoleucine, glutamic acid, and phenylalanine) for all tissues and 3 amino acids (proline, serine, and methionine) for several tissues based on the peak intensity and separation on the GC/IRMS chromatogram.

### 3. Results and discussions

#### 3.1 Seven tissues within a single fish

The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in muscle vary from -1.9% (glycine) to +25.8%(isoleucine) in the *T. japonicus* examined (Table 2-2-1). Amino acids in scale and fin have substantially the same  $\delta^{15}$ N values to muscle (paired T – Test: t = -1.3, df = 6, p = 0.24 for scale; t = 1.7, df = 7, p = 0.13 for fin) (Table 2-2-2), which illustrates the 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between muscle and scale (Fig. 2-2-1A) as well as between muscle and fin (Fig. 2-2-1B). In contrast, amino acids in bone and eye have higher (by from 2.2‰ to 4.1‰) and lower (by from 2.4‰ to 4.1‰)  $\delta^{15}$ N values, respectively, than corresponding amino acids in muscle (Table 2-2-1), illustrating a poor 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types (t = -12.7, df = 6, p =0.00002 for bone; t = 7.2, df = 6, p = 0.0004 for eye) (Table 2-2-2). Amino acids in the other tissues have lower  $\delta^{15}$ N values (by from 1.0‰ to 12.6‰) than corresponding amino acids in muscle, except for phenylalanine in gill (Table 2-2-1), illustrating a poor 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types (e.g., t = 6.3, df = 6, p = 0.0008for heart). For comparing in the other tissues, a strong 1:1 relationship is found between eye and liver and between eye and heart (Table 2-2-2).

**Table 2-2-1**. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids for *T. japonicus* investigated in this study. n.d.: not detectable.

	$\delta^{15}N$									
	Ala	Gly	Val	Leu	Ile	Pro	Met	Glu	Phe	
Muscle	23.4	-1.9	19.4	20.9	25.8	24.6	n.d.	25.5	5.0	
Scale	23.7	-2.2	20.5	20.7	26.3	n.d.	4.9	25.2	5.8	
Fin	22.1	-3.1	17.5	19.1	24.2	26.9	n.d.	24.1	5.1	
Eye	17.8	-5.4	14.2	14.3	15.4	n.d.	n.d.	19.8	0.6	
Heart	15.5	-6.9	14.3	14.3	16.5	n.d.	n.d.	17.5	3.5	
Gill	20.1	-3.0	15.5	16.6	17.7	n.d.	n.d.	21.8	5.9	
Liver	14.9	-9.7	14.6	13.3	16.1	n.d.	n.d.	16.3	2.4	
Blood	14.7	-11.8	11.5	11.3	13.1	n.d.	n.d.	15.1	1.7	
Bone	25.8	1.0	22.7	24.0	28.0	n.d.	n.d.	29.0	9.1	

Table 2-2-2. P values of paired T-Test between tissues for T. japonicus investigated in this study.

	Muscle	Scale	Fin	Eye	Heart	Gill	Liver	Blood	Bone
Muscle									
Scale	0.24								
Fin	0.13	0.002							
Eye	0.0004	0.0004	0.0009						
Heart	0.0008	0.0004	0.001	0.69					
Gill	0.02	0.015	0.0605	0.002	0.0018				
Liver	0.0003	0.0001	0.0004	0.2	0.04	0.003			
Blood	0.0002	0.0001	0.0002	0.014	0.001	0.0001	0.005		
Bone	0.00002	0.0001	0.000001	0.00001	0.00003	0.0004	0.00001	0.00001	

P > 0.05: no significant different; 0.01 < P < 0.05: significant different; P < 0.01: highly significant different.

In the previous study, Chikaraishi et al. (2009) reported little difference in the  $\delta^{15}N$ value of amino acids between muscle and scale in a fish (Half-lined cardinal Apogon *semilineatus*). Little difference was also reported in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of bulk (i.e., total nitrogen) between muscle and fin of the seahorses Hippocampus guttulatus (Valladares and Planas, 2012). This little difference in our study thus is consistent with that in these previous studies. In contrast, although no literature is reported the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in fish blood, Germain et al. (2013) reported that the values of glutamic acid in blood serum for harbor seal Phoca vitulina is significantly lower than the expected values in muscle or whole body. This could be consistent with our results that the 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between muscle and the blood is poor for the examined fish. Moreover, the concentration and sources of free amino acids (including small-size peptides) in fish blood can change daily or weekly depending on recent diets (German et al. 2010). Even though the turnover of heart, liver, and gill themselves is monthlyyear scale (e.g., Hilderbrand et al. 1996; Buchheister et al. 2010), these tissues have large volume of blood compared to muscle tissues. Thus, variation in the concentration and sources may lead to difference in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value of amino acids between blood and muscle. Also, the bone (Hahn et al. 2012) and eye (Lynnerup et al. 2008) are a unique tissue that the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids may not much change from larva to adult stages, because of little or no turnover. In addition, we still poorly understand why the strong positive 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value is found between heart and eye as well as between liver and eye. Based on these results, we concluded that the scale and fin of fish are applicable as alternatives to muscle, whereas the other tissues will be required further evaluation if we apply the CSIA-AA in food web studies.





#### Fig. 2-2-1.

The relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types in a *T. japonicus*: (A) scale; (B) fin; (C) heart; (D) Blood; (E) eye; (F) gill; (G) liver; and (H) bone. The line represents 1:1 relationship.

#### 3.2 Shell protein of gastropods

The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in muscle vary from -0.6% (serine) to +13.2%(glutamic acid) for the *H. discus*, from +3.1% (methionine) to +16.6% (alanine) for the *T. sazae*, and from +2.4% (serine) to +15.1% (alanine) for the *O. pfeifferi* (Table 3). Amino acids in shell protein have substantially the same  $\delta^{15}$ N values to those in muscle for these gastropods (Table 2-2-3), which illustrates the 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types (t = 2.06, df = 25, p = 0.48) (Fig. 2-2-2).

		$\delta^{15}N$									
		Ala	Gly	Val	Leu	Ile	Pro	Ser	Met	Glu	Phe
<b>TT 1</b> '	Muscle	12.6	2.8	12.7	6.1	9.5	12.9	-0.6	1.9	13.2	4.3
H. discus	Shell	12.7	2.6	12.4	5.5	9.3	12.7	0.1	n.d.	13.1	3.8
Taamaa	Muscle	16.6	4.8	15.1	12.7	14.3	14.1	7.0	3.1	16.4	5.0
I. sazae	Shell	16.2	3.9	14.9	12.9	14.7	n.d.	7.7	n.d.	15.9	4.6
O. pfeifferi	Muscle	15.1	3.6	11.4	8.9	9.0	11.7	2.4	2.5	14.7	4.4
	Shell	15.4	3.0	11.7	8.5	9.8	11.1	3.3	n.d.	15	4.0

**Table 2-2-3**. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids for gastropods investigated in this study (data from Chikaraishi et al., 2014). n.d.: not detectable.

It is hypothesized that amino acids and their  $\delta^{15}N$  values have long been preserved in hard tissues (e.g., shell and bone) but not in soft tissues (e.g., muscle) after the organisms die. Several previous studies indeed applied the CSIA-AA to the hard tissues such as bone and feather for evaluating trophic ecology on historical animal samples (mammal bone including human bone, Naito et al. 2010; bird bone, Ostrom et al. 2017; bird feather, Morra et al. 2019). However, there are two major issues in the application of hard tissues to ecological studies: whether or not the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in hard tissues 1) can be used instead of those in muscle; and 2) can be preserved for long time. Our results indicate that the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in shell are substantially identical to those of the corresponding amino acids in muscle within a single gastropod (Fig. 2-2-2). Thus, the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in hard tissues, particularly in gastropod shells, can be used instead of those in muscle for application of CSIA-AA, which can clarify the former issue. Based on our results, we can expect that a piece of gastropod shell on beach is useful as alternative to muscle if muscle is not accessible

with specific reasons (e.g., protection). Moreover, historical changes in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acids may also be found in hard tissues that preserved for long time. As mentioned above, because the breakdown of amino acids and associated alternation of their  $\delta^{15}$ N values are poorly understood, further studies are required to clarify the latter issue. If this issue will be clarified, we can apply hard tissues as convenient historical samples in ecological studies.



# Fig. 2-2-2.

The relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between muscle and shell protein in a gastropod for three species: (A) *Haliotis discus*; (B) *Turbo sazae*; and (C) *Omphalius pfeifferi*. The line represents 1:1 relationship.

#### 3.3 Embryo of fish and turtle

The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in mother's muscle of the *S. marmoratus* vary from +4.6‰ (phenylalanine) to +30.5‰ (glutamic acid). They are almost identical to those of corresponding amino acids in the remaining yolk attached with the embryo (Table 2-2-4), which illustrates the 1:1 relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types (t = -1.0, df = 7, p = 0.35) (Fig. 2-2-3A), but not to those of corresponding amino acids in the developing embryo (t = -4.9, df = 7, p = 0.002) (Fig. 2-2-3B). Except for phenylalanine and glycine, seven amino acids (alanine, valine, leucine, isoleucine, glutamic acid, proline, and serine) in the embryo's leg muscle of the *E. imbricata* have higher  $\delta^{15}$ N values (by from 3.5‰ to 8.0‰) than corresponding amino acids in the remaining yolk (Table 2-2-4). These seven amino acids plot far from the 1:1 line in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types (t = 4.4, df = 8, p = 0.002) (Fig. 2-2-3C).

not detectable.											
			$\delta^{15}N$								
		Ala	Gly	Val	Leu	Ile	Pro	Ser	Met	Glu	Phe
S. mamoratus	Muscle	28.1	10.2	26.2	29.9	26.2	28.1	n.d.	n.d.	30.5	4.6
	Yolk	28.3	10.5	26.1	30.9	26.0	28.4	n.d.	n.d.	30.2	4.6
	Embryo	35.5	12.4	33.5	32.8	32.3	34.8	n.d.	1.4	39.4	5.0
E. imbricata	Embryo	18.2	14.4	18.9	20.2	20.7	22.3	13.6	n.d.	18.9	3.4
	Yolk	10.6	14.7	13.2	15.5	12.9	14.3	10.1	n.d.	12.2	3.7

**Table 2-2-4**. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids for *S. marmoratus and E. imbricata* investigated in this study. n.d.: not detectable.

The typical life cycle of fish and turtle is comprised of serval stages including embryo, larva, juvenile, and adult. Embryo uses yolk as a solo nutrient source in eggs, whereas the others feed on diets. It is known that the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in the later stages are determined by those in diets and isotopic fractionation associated with metabolism in consumer themselves. Similar to this, the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in embryo are potentially far different from those in yolk, because of active metabolism during the development in eggs. Based on a large difference in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value between remaining yolk and developing embryo, we predict that this difference is attributable to metabolism of yolk amino acids during the development for these two investigated species. Takizawa and Chikaraishi (2017) reported that deciduous plant Cerasus lannesiana used storage amino acids for the leaf flush under no/less photosynthetic activities. Moreover, because of little isotopic fractionation on phenylalanine during metabolism, no substantial difference in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value of phenylalanine between remaining yolk and developing embryo is consistent with that the nutrient of embryo is derived only from yolk. On the other hand, the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in the remaining yolk of S. marmoratus is almost identical to those of mother's muscle. This is likely consistent with previous study that Hirahara et al. (2015) reported no substantial difference in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acids between undeveloped egg and mother's body of the calanoid copepod Acartia steueri. These results of the previous and this studies suggest that the remaining yolk can, but developing embryo cannot, be

useful alternatives to muscle for the CSIA-AA, independent of any developmental stages of embryo.



# Fig.2-2-3.

The relationship in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value between tissue types in *S. marmoratus*: (A) muscle vs. yolk; (B) muscle vs. embryo; and in *E. imbricate* (C) yolk vs. embryo. The line represents 1:1 relationship.

# 4. Conclusion

Muscle of organisms is generally used as samples in the food web studies. However, not only muscle but also other tissues such as scale and fin are potentially used as alternative samples. In this study, based on the tissue-specific  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in several aquatic organisms including fish, gastropods and a turtle, we evaluated which tissues are useful as samples in CSIA-AA. The results suggest that scale, fin, shell, and yolk are applicable as alternatives to muscle, whereas many internal tissues (e.g., heart, liver, blood, and embryo) will be required further evaluation if we need to use them in the CSIA-AA.

# References

- Buchheister A. and Latour R. J. (2010) Turnover and fractionation of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in tissues of a migratory coastal predator, summer flounder (*Paralichthys dentatus*). *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 67(3), 445-461.
- Chikaraishi Y., Kashiyama Y., Ogawa N. O., Kitazato H. and Ohkouchi N. (2007)
  Metabolic control of nitrogen isotope composition of amino acids in macroalgae
  and gastropods: implications for aquatic food web studies. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*342, 85-90.
- Chikaraishi Y., Ogawa N.O., Kashiyama Y., Takano Y., Suga H., Tomitani A., Miyashita H., Kitazato H. and Ohkouchi N. (2009) Determination of aquatic foodweb structure based on compound-specific nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Limnol. Oceanogr-Meth.* 7, 740-750.
- Chikaraishi Y., Steffan S. A., Ogawa N.O., Ishikawa N. F., Sasaki Y., Tsuchiya M. and Ohkouchi N. (2014) High-resolution food webs based on nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Ecol. and Evol.* 4, 2423-2449.
- Germain L. R., Koch P. L., Harvey J. and McCarthy M. D. (2013) Nitrogen isotope fractionation in amino acids from harbor seals: implications for compound-specific trophic position calculations. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 482, 265-277.
- German D. P. and Miles R. D. (2010) Stable carbon and nitrogen incorporation in blood and fin tissue of the catfish Pterygoplichthys disjunctivus (Siluriformes, Loricariidae). *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 89(2), 117-133.

- Hahn S., Hoye B. J., Korthals H. and Klaassen M. (2012) From food to offspring down: tissue-specific discrimination and turn-over of stable isotopes in herbivorous waterbirds and other avian foraging guilds. *PLoS One* 7(2), e30242.
- Hirahara M., Chikaraishi Y. Toda T. (2015) Isotopic discrimination of <sup>15</sup>N/<sup>14</sup>N of amino acids among the calanoid copepod *Acartia steueri* and its food items, eggs, and fecal pellets. *Res. Org. Geochem.* 31(1), 29-32.
- Hilderbrand G. V., Farley S. D., Robbins C. T., Hanley T. A., Titus K. and Servheen.C. (1996) Use of stable isotopes to determine diets of living and extinct bears. *Can. J. Zool.* 74(11), 2080-2088.
- Lynnerup N., Kjeldsen H., Heegaard S., Jacobsen C., and Heinemeier J. (2008) Radiocarbon dating of the human eye lens crystallines reveal proteins without carbon turnover throughout life. *PloS one* 3(1), 1529-1531.

Lindeman R. L. (1942) The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. *Ecology* 23(4), 399-417.

- McMahon K. W., Michelson C. I., Hart T., McMarthy M. D., Patterson W. P. and Polito
  M. J. (2019) Divergent trophic responses of sympatric penguin species to historic anthropogenic exploitation and recent climate change. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 116(51), 25721-25727.
- McCarthy M. D., Benner R., Lee, C. and Fogel M. L. (2007) Amino acid nitrogen isotopic fractionation patterns as indicators of heterotrophy in plankton, particulate, and dissolved organic matter. *Geochimi Cosmochim Ac* 71, 4727-4744.

- Morra K. E., Chikaraishi Y., Gandhi H., James H. F., Rossman S., Wiley A. E., Raine A. F., Beck J. and Ostrom P. H. (2019) Trophic declines and decadal-scale foraging segregation in three pelagic seabirds. *Oecologia* 189(2), 395-406.
- Naito Y. I., Honch N. V., Chikaraishi Y., Ohkouchi N. and Yoneda M. (2010) Quantitative evaluation of marine protein contribution in ancient diets based on nitrogen isotope ratios of individual amino acids in bone collagen: an investigation at the Kitakogane Jomon site. *Am. J. Phys. Anthropol.* 143(1), 31-40.
- Ostrom P. H., Wiley A. E., James H. F., Rossman Sam., Walker W. A., Zipkin E. F. and Chikaraishi Y. (2017) Broad-scale trophic shift in the pelagic North Pacific revealed by an oceanic seabird. *Proc. R. Soc. B-Biol. Sci.* 284(1851), 20162436.
- Popp B.N., Graham B. S., Olson R. J., Hannides C. C. S., Lott M. J., López-Ibarra G. A., Galván-Magaña F. and Fry, B. (2007) Insight into the trophic ecology of yellowfin tuna, Thunnus albacares, from compound-specific nitrogen isotope analysis of proteinaceous amino acids. *Terr Ecol* 1, 173-190.
- Sugaya S., Takizawa, Y. and Chikaraishi Y. (2020) What is the parasitic nematode Anisakis doing in host fish? Res. Org. Geochem. 35, 45-54.
- Takizaww Y. and Chikaraishi Y. (2017) Change in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of plant amino acids on the phenology of leaf flush and senescence. *Res. Org. Geochem.* 33(1), 1-6.
- Valladares S. and Planas M. (2012) Non-lethal dorsal fin sampling for stable isotope analysis in seahorses. *Aquatic Ecology* 46(3), 363-370.

# 2-3. A baseline $\delta^{15}$ N isoscape for Sagami Bay based on compound specific isotope analysis of amino acids in local fish

# Abstract

Compound-specific isotope analysis of nitrogen within amino acids in long-life consumer samples provides an isoscape map for the temporally-integrated isotope ratios of primary producers ( $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Primary producer</sub>) at the basis of food webs, which can be employed as essential information in ecological studies particularly for elucidating the trophic relationship among species in ecosystems. In this study, based on nitrogen isotope ratios of amino acids in two fish species ( $\delta^{15}N_{Fish amino acids}$ ), we illustrated the isoscape map along Sagami Bay where has complex inputs of isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources derived from ocean current and human activities. The isoscape map illustrated show a spatial variation in the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Primary producer</sub> value across Sagami Bay, as low (~2‰), middle (~12‰), and high (~16‰) values are attributable to nutrients found in ocean current, released from industrial, and experienced by denitrification, respectively. Moreover, the trophic position calculated by the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Fish amino acids}}$  values shows that these two fish (generalist species for both) have kept a constant TP at the species level in Sagami Bay where is expected to have a large heterogeneity in the biomass size and species diversity of primary producers caused by multiple nitrogen sources inputs.

Keywords: isoscape map; nitrogen sources; isotopic composition; food webs; ecosystem; generalist

#### 1. Introduction

The isotope ratios ( $\delta$  values) of light elements such as hydrogen, nitrogen, and oxygen vary in systematically across natural environments. Geospatial  $\delta$  map (termed isoscape map) for nitrogen of primary producers (i.e., baseline of food chains) can identify the source of isotopically-distinct nitrogen and quantify the contribution of them among organisms in food webs, which has been employed as basic information in a number of ecological studies, particularly for describing the trophic relationship of species, assessing biomagnification risk of pollutant, understanding the impact of nutrient inputs, and tracing the migration of organisms in ecosystems (Hansson et al. 1997; Aurioles et al. 2006; Newsome et al. 2007; Matsubayashi et al. 2020).

It is known that isotope ratios for the bulk nitrogen of organisms are explained by two major factors: the isotope ratios of baseline of food webs ( $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$ ) and the elevation of isotope ratios of each trophic transfer (which is generally called by trophic discrimination factor, TDF), and therefore are given by the following equation (2-3-1):

$$\delta^{15}$$
N<sub>Organism</sub> =  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline</sub> + (TP<sub>Organism</sub> - 1) TDF (2-3-1)

where  $TP_{Organism}$  represents the trophic position of organisms in food webs. According to this equation, the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$  values can be simply found by the isotope analysis of organisms with the TP of 1.0. The  $\delta^{15}N$  values of phytoplankton ( $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$ ) and plants ( $\delta^{15}N_{Plant}$ ) therefore have been used for illustrating isoscape map in ecological studies (Costanzo et al. 2001; Brault et al. 2018). However, the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Phytoplankton</sub> values frequently have a significantly large temporal variation in coastal areas, which is attributable to three major reasons as follows: 1) isotopically-distinct multiple nitrogen sources (e.g., nitrate vs. ammonia, natural vs. artificial) are inputted with temporally different proportion; 2) preferential assimilation of <sup>14</sup>N by phytoplankton accelerates temporal variation in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value of the remaining pool of the nitrogen sources; 3) short life (i.e., hour-day scale) of phytoplankton records only snapshot of the temporal variation on the nitrogen sources into their  $\delta^{15}N$  values. The isoscape map illustrated with the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  values thus is not always useful in a number of studies, because the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$  values mirror the temporal variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  value. In contrast, because consumers particularly for long life (i.e., month-year scale) ones do not sensitive to such temporal variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$ value (Cabana et al. 1996), the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of consumers ( $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Consumer</sub>), instead of phytoplankton, are potentially useful for illustrating isoscape map, if TP of the consumers is known. However, knowing the TP of consumers is also challenging in many cases, because the equation (1) requires the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  values to calculate the TP of consumers. Thus, illustrating isoscape map itself is still challenging, and a common issue prior to the use of isoscape map in application studies.

During the last two decades, compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) in consumer samples has been used to estimate the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$  values of

food webs (equation 2-3-2) (Xing et al. 2020), and to calculate the TP of organisms (equation 2-3-3) (Chikaraishi et al. 2009), in which the estimation and calculation are independent of the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  values:

$$\delta^{15} N_{\text{Baseline,phe}} = \delta^{15} N_{\text{Phe}} - 0.4 (\text{TP} - 1) \qquad (2-3-2)$$
$$\text{TP} = (\delta^{15} N_{\text{Glu}} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Phe}}) / (8.0 - 0.4) + 1 \qquad (2-3-3)$$

where  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  represents the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of phenylalanine in primary producers, and  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  represent the measured  $\delta^{15}N$  values for glutamic acid and phenylalanine in a single consumer, respectively. It is known that the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$ values are lower by approximately 2.2% than the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline}}$  values, because of isotopic fractionation associated with phenylalanine synthesis in primary producers (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). Thus, the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (equation 2-3-2) are estimated as long-time integration of the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline}$  values in environments. Moreover, it is known that the  $\delta^{15}N_{Glu}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  values are increased by 8.0% and 0.4% at each step along the trophic transfer in food webs, respectively, because of isotope fractionation associated with amino acid metabolism (i.e., deamination and hydroxylation, respectively) in consumers (Chikaraishi et al. 2007). Thus, the TP (equation 2-3-3) of consumers are calculated without any consideration of temporal variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  value (Xing et al. 2020). It is mentioned that there are two types of consumers (i.e., migrating and local) in the coastal environments. The  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values from the former species may apparently reduce spatial variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phytoplankton}$  value on illustrating isoscape map (Germain et al. 2013), because they can across several areas where have

isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources. Thus, isoscape map illustrated with the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values from latter species will be useful directly to provide temporallyintegrated  $\delta^{15}N_{baseline}$  values and isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources among areas within a coastal environment.

The isoscape map illustrated will be further useful as basic information to compare the contribution of nitrogen sources into the TP of organisms among different areas in coastal environments. Variation in the TP of organisms within a single species may be explained by the utilization of isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources in food webs where they grow. For instance, Choi et al. (2020) reported that there is a small and large variation in the TP among rivers for a specialist pike gudgeon Pseudogobio esocinus  $(1\sigma = 0.2)$  and for a generalist largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides*  $(1\sigma = 0.6)$ , respectively. This variation in the TP of freshwater fish suggests that adaptabilities to the environment changes (e.g., diverse of diets) is low for specialist (e.g., *P. esocinus*) and high for generalist species (e.g., M. salmoides). The high adaptability of M. salmoides implies that the TP of generalist species in freshwater environments can sensitively record the changes in nitrogen sources for growth areas. Because the TP of organisms is calculated accurately and precisely based on CSIA-AA (i.e., equations 2-3-2 and 2-3-3) for isoscape illustration, variation in the TP of local fish investigated will be simultaneously evaluated whether or not the TP of marine organisms is dependent on the nitrogen source and its related change in the food web community along coastal environments.

In this study, to illustrate isoscape map, we collected the fish striped beakfish *Oplegnathus fasciatus* and kusafugu *Takifugu niphobles* (representative local generalist species in stony and sandy areas, respectively) along Sagami Bay where has isotopically-distinct multiple inorganic nitrogen sources, and measured the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of glutamic acid and phenylalanine in these two fish species. Moreover, to understand how impact nitrogen sources on the TP of these two marine generalist species, we compared the TP of individual specimens among different areas.

#### 2. Method and materials

#### 2.1. Collection of fish

On February 2015, we collected the local fish *O. fasciatus* from 7 sites in rockyareas (site 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, and 10 in Fig.2-3-2) and *T. niphobles* from 3 sites in sandyareas (site 5, 7, and 8 in Fig.2-3-2) by fishing along Sagami Bay (three individuals for each site). These two fish species are generalists that can feed on multiple species as diets (wang et al. 2006; Kono et al. 2008). Several pieces of dorsal scales for *O. fasciatus* and a small part of tail fin for *T. niphobles* were sampled for the isotope analysis, and were stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C before the analysis.

Sagami Bay is situating on the south-west of Tokyo, and is surrounded by the land for west (Izu Peninsula), north (Shonan District), and east (Miura and Boso Peninsula), by the mouth of Tokyo Bay for north-east between Miura Peninsula and Boso Peninsula, and by the Pacific Ocean for south. There are two big rivers (Sakawa River and Hayakawa River) between the Izu Peninsula and the Shonan District. There are many
agricultural fields (including rice, vegetable, and fruit farms) located around these two rivers, and a dam constructed on the upstream and a wastewater treatment plant connected to the mouth of Sakawa River.

#### 2.2. Analysis of the $\delta^{15}N$ values of amino acids

The nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids was determined by the procedure in previous study (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). In brief, the sample was dried with a freezedrier for overnight (>12 hours), and the dried sample was hydrolyzed with 12 N HCl at 110°C for overnight (>12 hours). The hydrolysate was washed with nhexane/dichloromethane (3/2, v/v) to remove hydrophobic constituents. Derivatization of amino acids were performed sequentially with thionyl chloride/2-propanol (1/4) and pivaloyl chloride/dichloromethane (1/4) to produce N-pivaloyl isopropyl esters. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acid derivatives were determined by gas chromatography/isotope ratio mass spectrometry (GC/IRMS). The isotopic composition of amino acids in samples was expressed relative to atmospheric nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}N_{Air} = 0\%$ ) on scales normalized to known  $\delta^{15}$ N values of the reference amino acids (Chikaraishi et al. 2014). The accuracy and precision for the reference mixtures were always 0.0% (mean of  $\Delta$ ) and 0.4‰ to 0.7‰ (mean of  $1\sigma$ ), respectively, for sample sizes of  $\geq 1.0$  nmol N. In this study, we obtained the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of two amino acids (glutamic acid, and phenylalanine) for these two fish species to estimate the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values with the equation (2-3-2) and to calculate the TP with the equation (2-3-3), and a mean value for three individuals was used.

#### 2.3 Illustration of baseline $\delta^{15}N$ isoscape map

Ocean Data View (ODV) (Schlitzer, R., https://odv.awi.de, 2019) was used to illustrate baseline  $\delta^{15}$ N isoscape map. The  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values of fish, and the latitude and longitude of sampling sites were inputted into ODV, with a mode DIVA gridding for the gridded field, 66 for X scale lengths, 83 for Y scale lengths, 50 for signal-to-noise ratio, and 3.0 for quality limit.

#### 3. Results

The  $\delta^{15}$ N values in *O. fasciatus* vary from 1.8‰ to 18.2‰ for phenylalanine (7.3 ± 6.1‰, as mean ± 1 $\sigma$  standard deviation) and from 23.5‰ to 40.1‰ for glutamic acid (29.3 ± 6.0‰). Based on these values, the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values estimated are from 0.84‰ to 17.23‰ (6.3 ± 6.2‰) (Table 2-3-1). The  $\delta^{15}$ N values in *T. niphobles* vary from 9.3‰ to 17.0‰ for phenylalanine (12.4 ± 4.1‰) and from 29.8‰ to 37.4‰ for glutamic acid (32.8 ± 4.0‰). Based on these values, the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values estimated are from 8.4‰ to 16.1‰ (11.5 ± 4.1‰) (Table 2-3-1). The TP is almost the same for *O. fasciatus* among these 7 sites (3.4 ± 0.1) as well as for *T. niphobles* among these 3 sites (3.2 ± 0.1) (Table 2-3-1), even though the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values have a large variation within species, showing no correlation between TP and the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.16 for *O. fasciatus* and R<sup>2</sup> = 0.04 for *T. niphobles*, Fig 2-3-1).



**Table 2-3-1.** The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids, the  $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Baseline</sub> values, and the TP for *Oplegnathus fasciatus* investigated in this study.

Species	Lat (N)	Lon (E) –	$\delta^{15}N$			тр
			Glu	Phe	Baseline	11
O. fasciatus	34.75	138.77	28.4	6.0	5.00	3.5
	34.68	138.98	23.5	1.8	0.84	3.4
	34.78	139.05	24.6	2.4	1.41	3.5
	35.15	139.13	27.9	6.2	5.24	3.4
	35.23	139.14	40.1	18.2	17.23	3.4
	35.14	139.63	34.7	13.2	12.25	3.4
	34.98	139.76	25.8	3.3	2.29	3.5
T. niphobles	35.16	139.14	31.2	10.9	10.01	3.2
	35.26	139.19	37.4	17.0	16.11	3.2
	35.31	139.32	29.8	9.3	8.40	3.3

There is a large spatial variation in  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  value on the isoscape map illustrated, which are classified into the three groups:

- (1) around rivers mouth, the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values are high (16.11‰ for site 7 and 17.23‰ for site 6);
- (2) around the east coast of Izu Peninsula, the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values are low (0.84‰ for site 2 and 1.44‰ for site 3);
- (3) around Tokyo Bay mouth, the δ<sup>15</sup>N<sub>Baseline,phe</sub> values are intermediate (12.25‰ for station 9) between (1) and (2).

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Nitrogen sources of ecosystems

To discuss the nitrogen sources in ecosystems on the isoscape map illustrated with the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values, it should be care for original difference in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value among nitrate ( $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Nitrate}}$ ) in the ocean, primary producers ( $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Primary producer}}$ ) in food webs, and phenylalanine ( $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$ ) in primary producers. It is known that the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Primary producer}}$  values mirror the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Nitrate}}$  values in the ocean surface, because of little isotopic fractionation associated with the assimilation of nitrogen in primary producers (Sigman et al. 2019). The  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values are, however, changed to negative values by 2.2‰ from the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Primary producer}}$  values, because of isotopic fractionation associated with the biosynthesis of phenylalanine in primary producers (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). For example, a previous study reported that the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Primary}}$ producer values range from 6.5‰ to 12.3‰ in Sagami Bay (Won et al. 2007), which accounts for 4.3‰ to 10.1‰ as the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values. In this study, isoscape map illustrated show us a large variation in

 $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value ranging from 0.8‰ to 17.2‰ (Table 2-3-1), which are explained by inputs of isotopically-distinct multiple nitrogen sources into Sagami Bay.

The high  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (~16‰) were found in the areas around the river mouths (Fig. 2-3-2). These high values are probably caused by the nutrient inputs from rivers, in which farms (particularly rice fields), dam, and wastewater treatment plant frequently produce anoxic water. Such anoxic water induce denitrification that preferentially releases <sup>14</sup>N to atmosphere and leaves <sup>15</sup>N in the remaining pool of the nutrients (Kellman et al. 2003; Sebilo et al. 2006).

The low  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (~2‰) were found around the east coast of Izu Peninsula (Fig. 2-3-2). These low values indicate that the major nitrogen sources in this area are attributable to natural nutrients in the ocean, but not to agricultural and artificial nutrients derived from terrestrial environments. Indeed, the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Nitrate}}$  values reported were 2‰-3‰ for subsurface water for the branch (that enter Sagami Bay) of Kuroshio Current (Yamazaki et al. 2016), which accounts for -0.2‰ to 0.8‰ as the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$ values. The  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values observed in this study are slightly higher than that expected for Kuroshio Current, but the values observed are lower than mean  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (i.e., ~3‰) estimated for global ocean. These results thus indicate that the low  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (~2‰) found around the east coast of Izu Peninsula is explained by the contribution from nutrient derived from Kuroshio Current. The intermediate  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values (~12‰) were found around Tokyo Bay mouth (Fig. 2-3-2). Tokyo Bay is one of the most eutrophicated bay in Japan (Sukigara et al. 2005), because human activities around Tokyo have resulted in that a large amount of industrial nutrients is released to the environments including Tokyo Bay. There is no reported for the mean and variation in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value for these industrial nutrients, because of a huge diversity in the nutrient source in them. However, a previous study reported that the  $\delta^{15}N$  values are 9.5‰ for microphytobenthos in Tokyo Bay (Kanaya et al. 2013), implying that the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of industrial nutrients are potentially higher than the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Nitrite}}$  values in ocean current and lower than the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of nutrients supplied from Sakawa River and Hayakawa River to Sagami Bay.



Fig. 2-3-2.  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  isoscape map of Sagami Bay. Color gradient bar indicates the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values. Number 1-10 represents the sampling sites.

#### 4.2. The Impact of nitrogen sources on TP of fish

It is known that nutrients are key factors controlling for ecosystems, as the biomass size and species diversity for both primary producers and consumers and therefore the size of food webs may be affected by even a little change in the nutrient. For example, the release of artificial nutrients to coastal water frequently results in the blooming of specific phytoplankton (e.g., which is called red tide) (Anderson et al. 1997). The TP of consumers also may be affected by change in the nutrient, particularly for that of generalist species because these species potentially feed on multiple diets with diverse TP and potentially place on different energetical hierarchy in food webs.

The isoscape map in this study shows a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value ranging from 0.8‰ to 17.2‰, and illustrates at least three different nutrient sources (i.e., with high, middle, and low values of  $\delta^{15}N$ ) in ecosystems. Such a large difference in the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value simply supports that there is heterogeneity in the biomass size and species diversity of primary producers among areas within Sagami Bay, and make a general assumption that TP of generalist species potentially changes with the heterogeneity among areas. Indeed, in the case of river, the TP is variable from 2.7 to 3.9 for the generalist fish largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides* among diverse environments (Choi et al. 2020). However, the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of glutamic acid and phenylalanine measured in this study clearly indicate little variation in the TP within species (3.4 ± 0.1 for *O. fasciatus* and 3.2 ± 0.1 for *T. niphobles*), implying that TP of these species is independent of nutrient sources in the seawater and of their inducing heterogeneity in the primary producers among areas. These results do not support the general assumption and is inconsistent with the previous study for freshwater fish, and suggest a specific mechanism to keep the constant TP for marine fish against the heterogeneity in the primary producers. Although specific reason is unknown at this moment, we predict that there is a preferential place on the energetical hierarchy in food webs even for generalist species and that these species have kept identical place even if the biomass size and species diversity for primary producers are changed by nutrient sources.

#### 5. Conclusion

Based on the stable nitrogen isotope analysis of glutamic acid and phenylalanine in two generalist fish collected from Sagami Bay, an isoscape map for temporallyintegrated  $\delta^{15}N_{Primary producer}$  values was illustrated. The isoscape map illustrated show a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  value, ranging from 0.8‰ to 17.2‰, which are classified into the three groups: high values for river mouth; low values for east coast of Izu peninsula; and intermediate values for Tokyo Bay mouth, and are explained by inputs of isotopically-distinct multiple nitrogen sources. The high  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values (~16‰) are probably caused by the nutrient inputs from rivers, in which the nutrients experienced denitrification in anoxic water. The low  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values (~2‰) are attributable to natural nutrients mainly derived from Kuroshio Current. The intermediate  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  values (~12‰) are explained by the industrial nutrients released from human activities around Tokyo. The TP of two fish species were also compared among different areas in Sagami Bay where has a large variation in  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  value. For both fish species, no substantially difference in the TP is found at the species level, with no correlation between TP and the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Baseline,phe}}$  values. Thus the fish investigated can keep the constant TP against the heterogeneity in the biomass size and species diversity for primary producers in ecosystems, resulting in that they can stay preferential place on the energetical hierarchy in food webs.

#### References

Anderson D. M. (1997) Turning back the harmful red tide. Nature, 388: 513-514.

- Aurioles D.; Koch P. L.; Le Boeuf B. J. (2006) Differences in foraging location of Mexican and California elephant seals: evidence from stable isotopes in pups. *Mar Mamm Sci* 22:326–338.
- Brault E. K.; Koch P. L.; McMahon K. W.; Broach K.H.; Rosenfield A. P. and others (2018) Carbon and nitrogen zooplankton isoscapes in West Antarctica reflect oceanographic transitions. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 593: 29-45.
- Cabana G. and Rasmussen J. B. (1996) Comparison of aquatic food chains using nitrogen isotopes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 93: 10844-10847.
- Chikaraishi, Y.; Kashiyama, Y.; Ogawa, N. O.; Kitazato, H.; Ohkouchi, N. Metabolic control of nitrogen isotope composition of amino acids in macroalgae and gastropods: implications for aquatic food web studies. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 2007, 342:85–90.
- Chikaraishi Y.; Ogawa N. O.; Kashiyama Y.; Takano Y.; Suga H.; Tomitani A.; Miyashita H.; Kitazato H.; Ohkouchi N. (2009) Determination of aquatic food-web structure based on compound-specific nitrogen isotopic compo- sition of amino acids. *Limnol Oceanogr Methods* 7: 740–750.
- Chikaraishi Y.; Steffan S. A.; Ogawa N. O.; Ishikawa N. F.; Sasaki Y.; Tsuchiya M.; Ohkouchi N. (2014) High-resolution food webs based on nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Ecol Evol.* 4:2423–2449.
- Choi B.; Lee C.; Takizawa Y.; Chikaraishi Y.; Oh H. J.; Chang K. H.; Jang M. H.; Kim H. W.; Lee K. L.; Shin K. H. (2020) Trophic response to ecological conditions of habitats: Evidence from trophic variability of freshwater fish. *Ecol. Evol.* 10: 7250-7260.
- Costanzo S. D.; O'donohue M. J.; Dennison W. C.; Loneragan N. R.; Thomas M. (2001) A new approach for detecting and mapping sewage impacts. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 42: 149-156.

- Germain L. R.; Koch P. L; Harvey J.; McCarthy M. D. (2013) Nitrogen isotope fractionation in amino acids from harbor seals: implications for compound-specific trophic position calculations. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 482: 265–277.
- Hansson S.; Hobbie J. E.; Elmgren R.; Larsson U.; Fry B.; Johansson S. (1997) The stable nitrogen isotope ratio as a marker of food-web interactions and fish migration. *Ecology*, 78: 2249-2257.
- Kanaya G.; Nakamura Y.; Koizumi T, Yamada, K.; Koshikawa H., Kohzu A., Maki H.
  (2013) Temporal changes in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios of macrozoobenthos on an artificial tidal flat facing a hypertrophic canal, inner Tokyo Bay. *Mar. Pollut. Bull*, 71: 179-189.
- Kellman L. M. and Hillaire-Marcel C. (2003) Evaluation of nitrogen isotopes as indicators of nitrate contamination sources in an agricultural watershed. Agric Ecosyst Environ, 95:87–102
- Matsubayashi J.; Osada Y.; Tadokoro K.; Abe Y.; Yamaguchi A. and others (2020) Tracking long-distance migration of marine fishes using compound-specific stable isotope analysis of amino acids. *Ecol. Lett.* 23: 881-890.
- Kono M.; Matsui T.; Furukawa K.; Takase T.; Yamamori K.; Kaneda H.; Aoki D.; Jang J.; Yamashita M. Y. (2008) Examination of transformation among tetrodotoxin and its analogs in the living cultured juvenile puffer fish, kusafugu, *Fugu niphobles* by intramuscular administration. *Toxicon*, 52: 714-720.
- Newsome S. D.; Etnier M. A.; Gifford-Gonzalez D.; Phillips D. L.; Tuinen M. V. and others (2007) The shifting baseline of northern fur seal ecology in the northeast Pacific Ocean. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 104:9709–9714.
- Sebilo M.; Billen G.; Mayer B.; Billiou D. (2006) Assessing nitrification and denitrification in the Seine River and estuary using chemical and isotopic techniques. *Ecosystems*, 9: 564–577.

- Sigman D. M. and Fripiat F. (2019) Nitrogen isotopes in the ocean. In J. K. Cochran, J. H. Bokuniewicz, L. P. Yager (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences, 3rd Edition. Oxford, UK: Elsevier, 263-278.
- Sukigara C.; Saino T. (2005) Temporal variations of  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N in organic particles collected by a sediment trap at a time-series station off the Tokyo Bay. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 25: 1749-1767.
- Wang J.; Shi G.; Li P.; Liu M.; Wang R. (2006) Morphology and histology of digestive tract in *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. J. Fish. China, 30: 618-626.
- Won N. I.; Kawamura T.; Onitsuka T.; Hayakawa J. (2007) Community and trophic structures of abalone Haliotis diver- sicolor habitat in Sagami Bay, Japan. *Fish Sci* 73: 1123–1136
- Xing D.; Choi B.; Takizawa Y. Fan, R.; Sugaya S.; Tsuchiya M.; Ohkouchi N.; Chikaraishi Y. (2020) Trophic hierarchy of coastal marine fish communities viewed via compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 652: 137-144.
- Yamazaki A.; Watanabe T.; Tsunogai U.; Lwase F.; Yamano H. (2016) A 150-year variation of the Kuroshio transport inferred from coral nitrogen isotope signature. *Paleoceanography*, 31: 838-846.

# CHAPTER III.

# Effect of pH on the Trophic Discrimination of <sup>15</sup>N/<sup>14</sup>N for Amino Acids in Marine Organisms

#### Abstract

Releasing CO<sub>2</sub> from the industrial decreases ocean pH already by 0.1 during the last two century and will further by 0.3 at the end of 21 century. However, little is known about the effect of pH decrease on marine organisms and food webs. In this study, we reared fish, gastropods, and corals in the artificial seawater with pH7.3-8.1 for 2-5 months, and evaluated the change in the energy consumption between pHs based on the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in these organisms. Changes in the  $\delta^{15}$ N value of amino acids between pHs suggest that energy consumption of fish and gastropods in the seawater with pH7.3 is lower than that with pH8.1. In contrast, the energy consumption of corals is negligibly changed in the seawater with pH7.6-8.1 but increased in the seawater pH lower than 7.6. These results reveal that, in the end of energy consumption, there are different effects among species to the seawater pH: (1) pH7.3 is positively affected to the fish and gastropods; (2) pH7.6-8.1 is negligibly affected to the corals, and (3) pH lower than 7.6 is negatively affected to the corals.

#### 1. Introduction

Ocean acidification is one of the environment problems that caused by human activities. As a consequence of the increase of CO<sub>2</sub> emission into the atmosphere, the concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in ocean is increasing, resulting in that of H<sup>+</sup> in seawater. Ciais et al. (2013) reported that  $30 \pm 7\%$  of the CO<sub>2</sub> that released to atmosphere had been taken

up by ocean from industrial revolution to 2011. This  $CO_2$  released from the industrial decreases ocean pH already by 0.1 during the last two century and will further by 0.3 at the end of 21 century if the emission rate of  $CO_2$  does not change (IPCC, 2020).

In general, we predict that ocean acidification has negative effects on marine organisms. For example, Hoegh-Guldberg et al. (2007) reported that the coral reef ecosystem will disappear if the CO<sub>2</sub> level increases from 375 ppm to >500 ppm in Great Barrier Reef. At this moment, few studies reported that the ocean acidification has positive effects on marine organisms, and that these organisms are mainly primary producers. For example, Chen and Durbin (2007) reported that the photosynthesis rate of marine centric diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana and oceanic diatom Thalassioira oceanica* significantly increase when the pH decreases from 9.4 to 7.0.

Moreover, consider the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the history of earth, we found that the CO<sub>2</sub> level is basically higher than present in the last 600 million years, which means that ocean pH is lower than present for almost always in that period. For example, CO<sub>2</sub> level in Devonian and Cretaceous were approximately 9 and 5 times, respectively, higher than present (Mackenzie, 1997), resulting in the ocean pH are 0.6 and 0.4 units, respectively, lower than present (Kump et al. 2009). Thus, the effect of ocean acidification on the marine organisms and food webs is a common question in the biogeochemical studies.

However, the nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids ( $\delta^{15}N$ ) will be available as an effective tool to evaluate the effect of ocean acidification, because change in the nitrogen isotope ratio of amino acids ( $\Delta\delta^{15}N$ ) from diet to consumers positively correlates with energy consumption of consumers. It is known that the  $\Delta\delta^{15}N$  is caused by the isotopic fractionation in deamination of amino acids to produce life energy in organisms. Indeed, the nitrogen isotopic composition of consumer ( $\delta^{15}N_{Consumer}$ ) is explained as the following equation (3-1):

$$\delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}} = \delta^{15} N_{\text{Diet}} + \Delta \delta^{15} N \qquad (3-1)$$

where  $\Delta \delta^{15}N$  ( $\Delta \delta^{15}N = \delta^{15}N_{t=x} - \delta^{15}N_{t=0}$ ) is the enrichment in <sup>15</sup>N on amino acids in organism from those in their diet. In general, the  $\Delta \delta^{15}N$  is constant (e.g., 8.0% for glutamic acid) during each trophic transfer along food chain, but potentially change in specific environments where physical, chemical, and biological factors are different sizes compared to present environments. In the low pH environments, organisms may receive stresses and therefore change energy consumption in the life. Moreover, it is known that the concentration of NH<sub>3</sub> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> will decrease and increase, respectively, when the ocean pH decreases. Thurston et al. (1981) reported that the toxic level of NH<sub>3</sub> is higher than NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> for rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri* and fathead minnows *Pimephales promelas*. Thus, the concentration of NH<sub>3</sub> potentially also is one reason for controlling the energy consumption of organisms.

In this study, to evaluate the effect of ocean acidification on energy consumption of organisms, we reared 3 fish and 1 gastropod species for 5 months under pH8.1 (control) and pH7.3, and 1 coral species for 2 months under pH8.1 (control), pH7.6, pH7.5, and pH7.4, and measured the  $\Delta\delta^{15}$ N in these organisms.

#### 2. Materials and Method

#### 2.1 Raising samples

In this study, we reared 5 marine species. These species can be separated into 3 groups, including free-roaming species (i.e., the fish Chromis viridis and Abudefduf sordidus), benthic species (i.e., the goby Stonogobiops nematodes and the gastropod Strombus luhuanus), and coral (i.e., the coral Briareidae sp.). The larva of A. sordidus was collected from Sagami Bay (Japan) on October 2019, and of other species were bought from a company. These 3 fish are reared for 5 months with only isotopically uniformed commercial pellets that are homogenized before use. The gastropods are also reared for 5 months in the same aquarium of fish. The diets of gastropods are mainly the remaining pellets and faeces of fish, but rarely algae attached on the glasses of aquarium. The corals are reared for 2 months without diet, because this species has symbiotic algae that supply photosynthetic products to the host corals. The dorsal scale of C. viridis and A. sordidus, the dorsal muscle of S. nematodes, the foot muscle of S. luhuanus, and the newly-growing part of Briareidae sp. were used for analysis in this study.

#### 2.2 Designing of aquarium system

We designed an aquarium system that has a constant pH of seawater for experimental periods (i.e., 5 months for fish and gastropod and 2 months for coral) (Fig. 3-1). The system is composed of 4 main units: plastic bags, a drip chamber, an aquarium, and a tank on floor 4, 3, 2, and 1, respectively, which are connected with silicone tube

(i.d. = 5 mm) from top to down (Fig. 3-1). Plastic bags are filled with pH5.6 artificial seawater that are saturated with CO<sub>2</sub>, are tightly sealed without air, and are used for supplying the pH5.6 seawater to the drip chamber through silicone tube. The plastic bags are shrunk after 2-4 days, and then replaced with new plastic bags. A drip chamber is used to control the water flow dropping onto the surface of seawater in aquarium. For example, the rate of water flow is 50 and 90 drops per minute to make seawater with pH7.7 and pH7.3, respectively. The aquarium is used for rearing fish, gastropods, and corals in a constant pH. An air-stone is used for providing oxygen, a water pump is used for circulating the water, plastic wools and bolls are used for filtering the water, a LED lamp (with 42 white, 10 blue, and 10 red LEDs) is used for providing a light-dark cycle in 12-12 hours, and a heater is used for keeping 23 °C in the aquarium. A silicone tube for waste line is used for removing the seawater into tank with the same water flow from the drip chamber to the aquarium, to keep the constant volume of seawater in the aquarium.



#### 2.3 Analyzing of the $\delta^{15}N$ values of amino acids

The nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids was determined by the procedure in previous study (Chikaraishi et al. 2009). In brief, the sample was dried with a freezedrier for overnight (>12 hours), and the dried sample was hydrolyzed with 12 N HCl at  $110^{\circ}$ C for overnight (>12 hours). The hydrolysate was washed with *n*-hexane/dichloromethane (3/2, v/v) to remove hydrophobic constituents. Derivatization of amino acids were performed sequentially with thionyl chloride/2-propanol (1/4) and pivaloyl chloride/dichloromethane (1/4) to produce *N*-pivaloyl isopropyl esters. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acid derivatives were determined by gas chromatography/isotope ratio mass spectrometry (GC/IRMS). The isotopic composition of amino acids in samples was expressed relative to atmospheric nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Air</sub> = 0‰) on scales normalized to known  $\delta^{15}$ N values of the reference amino acids (Chikaraishi et al., 2014). The accuracy and precision for the reference mixtures were always 0.0‰ (mean of  $\Delta$ ) and 0.4‰ to 0.7‰ (mean of 1 $\sigma$ ), respectively, for sample sizes of ≥1.0 nmol N. In this study, we obtained the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of five amino acids (i.e., alanine, glycine, valine, glutamic acid, and phenylalanine) for the all five species.

#### 2.4 Evaluating energy consumption of organisms

2.4.1 Evaluating energy consumption of fish and gastropods

We measured the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of 5 amino acids in fish and gastropods, and calculated the  $\Delta\delta^{15}$ N<sub>Consumer</sub> values for each amino acid in these species between pH7.3 and pH8.1, as the following equation (3-2):

$$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}} = (\delta^{15} N_{7.3} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Diet}}) - (\delta^{15} N_{8.1} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Diet}})$$
(3-2)

where  $\delta^{15}N_{7.3}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{8.1}$  represent the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of an amino acid in consumers that are reared in pH7.3 and pH8.1 seawater, respectively,  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Diet}}$  represents the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of an amino acid in diets. Because the  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Diet}}$  values are identical between pH7.3 and pH8.1 experiments, the equation (3-2) is given by the following equation (3-3),

$$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}} = (\delta^{15} N_{7.3} - \delta^{15} N_{8.1})$$
(3-3)

According to the Rayleigh model, change in the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids from diets to consumers (i.e.,  $\delta^{15}N_{7.3} - \delta^{15}N_{Diet}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{8.1} - \delta^{15}N_{Diet}$ ) is dependent of the flux of breakdown of amino acids to produce life energy for consumers, as the following equations (3-4) and (3-5):

$$\delta^{15}N_{7.3} - \delta^{15}N_{\text{Diet}} = 1000 \times [F_{7.3}{}^{(\alpha - 1)} - 1]$$
(3-4)  
$$\delta^{15}N_{8.1} - \delta^{15}N_{\text{Diet}} = 1000 \times [F_{8.1}{}^{(\alpha - 1)} - 1]$$
(3-5)

where  $\alpha$  represents the isotopic fractionation factor associate with the breakdown of amino acids in consumers, and F represents the flux of amino acids resisted to the breakdown (in which 1–F approximately mirrors energy consumption) in the consumers. The  $\alpha$  has a single value ranging between 0 and 1 for each amino acid in any pH condition, but the F varies between 0 and 1 for amino acids among conditions. The equations (3-3) to (3-5) are combined to the following equation (3-6):

$$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}} = 1000 \times [F_{7,3}^{(\alpha - 1)} - F_{8,1}^{(\alpha - 1)}]$$
(3-6)

Based on the equation (3-6), positive and negative for the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values can be explained by that fish and gastropods much and less, respectively, consumed amino acids as energy sources in the experiments.

#### 2.4.2 Evaluating energy consumption of coral

For coral experiments,  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Diet}}$  in the equation (3-2) should be replaced with the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of symbioses algae ( $\delta^{15}N_{\text{Algae}}$ ) in corals, as given by the following equation (3-7):

$$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}} = (\delta^{15} N_{\text{low-pH}} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Algae,low-pH}}) - (\delta^{15} N_{8.1} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Algae,8.1}})$$
(3-7)

where  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}}$  represents the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N$  values of amino acids in corals,  $\delta^{15} N_{\text{Algae,low-pH}}$ and  $\delta^{15} N_{\text{Algae,8.1}}$  represent the  $\delta^{15} N$  values of an amino acid in corals that are reared in low pH (i.e., pH7.4, 7.5, or 7.6) and pH8.1 seawater, respectively.

Unlike the change of equation from (3-2) to (3-3) for consumer samples, the  $\delta^{15}N_{Algae}$  values are not able to delete in equation (3-7), because the  $\delta^{15}N_{Algae,low-pH}$  values are potentially different from the  $\delta^{15}N_{Algae,8.1}$  values and vary during the experiment for 2 months. It is simply thought that the variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Algae}$  values is caused by photosynthesis activities of symbiotic algae in corals, input rate of pH5.6 seawater into aquarium, and initial and final biomass size of symbiotic algae in the experiments. Because phenylalanine has a little change in the  $\delta^{15}N$  value from diet to consumer species (Chikaraishi et al. 2007), we can use the normalization of the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids (i.e., alanine, glycine, valine, and glutamic acid) with the value of phenylalanine ( $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$ ) to evaluate the energy consumption of coral samples. Instead of the equation (3-3) for consumer samples, the following equations (3-8) to (3-10) are used for coral samples:

$$\begin{split} \Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}} &= \left[ \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral},\text{AA},\text{low-pH}} - \left( \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{phe},\text{low-pH}} + \beta \right) \right] - \left[ \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral},\text{AA},8.1} - \left( \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{phe},8.1} + \beta \right) \right] \quad (3-8) \\ \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{AA},\text{low-pH}} &= \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{phe},\text{low-pH}} + \beta \quad (3-9) \\ \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{AA},8.1} &= \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage},\text{phe},8.1} + \beta \quad (3-10) \end{split}$$

where  $\delta^{15}N_{Coral,AA,low-pH}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Coral,AA,8.1}$  represent the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of an amino acid (i.e., alanine, glycine, valine, or glutamic acid) of coral in low pH and pH8.1 experiments, respectively, and  $\delta^{15}N_{Alage,phe,low-pH}$  and  $\delta^{15}N_{Alage,phe,8.1}$  represent the  $\delta^{15}N$  values of phenylalanine of coral in low pH and pH8.1 experiments, respectively,  $\beta$  represents the difference between the  $\delta^{15}N_{AA}$  values and the  $\delta^{15}N_{Phe}$  values in algae.  $\beta$  is a constant value for each amino acid, which is reported in previously (Chikaraishi et al., 2009).

Similar to the consumers experiment, according to the Rayleigh model, change in the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids from algae to corals is calculated as the following equations (3-11) and (3-12):

$$\delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral,AA,low pH}} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage,AA,low-pH}} = 1000 \times [F_{\text{Low pH}}^{(\alpha - 1)} - 1]$$
(3-11)  
$$\delta^{15} N_{8.1\text{AA}} - \delta^{15} N_{\text{Alage,AA,8.1}} = 1000 \times [F_{8.1}^{(\alpha - 1)} - 1]$$
(3-12)

The equations (3-8) to (3-12) are combined to the following equation (3-13):

$$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}} = 1000 \times [F_{\text{Low pH}}^{(\alpha - 1)} - F_{8.1}^{(\alpha - 1)}]$$
(3-13)

Based on the equation (3-13), positive and negative for the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  values can be also explained by that corals much and less, respectively, consumed amino acids as energy sources in the experiments.

#### 3. Results

The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values calculated are ranging from -3.4% (glutamic acid) to +0.3‰ (phenylalanine) for the *C. viridis*, from -4.0‰ (valine) to +0.4‰ (alanine) for the *A. sordidus*, from -4.2‰ (valine) to +0.4‰ (glycine) for the *S. nematodes*, and from -2.25‰ (glycine) to -0.1‰ (phenylalanine) for the *S. luhuanus* (Table 3-1). The analytic error (1 $\sigma$ ) of  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids in this study is better than 0.8‰,

resulting in that the error of  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Consumer}}$  is better than 1.1‰ based on the propagation of 1 $\sigma$  on the equation (3-3). The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values of valine (-1.3‰) and glutamic acid (-3.4‰) for *C. viridis*, of valine (-4.0‰) for *A. sordidus*, of alanine (-1.7‰), valine (-4.2‰), and glutamic acid (-1.5‰) for *S. nematodes*, of glycine (-2.3‰) for *S. luhuanus* are significantly negative values from 0‰ with the propagation error (1 $\sigma$  = 1.1‰). The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values of the other amino acids in these samples are no substantial difference from 0‰ with the propagation error (Fig 3-2).

	-	Ala	Gly	Val	Glu	Phe
	pH8.1	20.0	-0.8	22.1	22.5	2.8
C. viridis	pH7.3	18.9	-0.6	20.8	19.1	3.1
	$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Consumer}$	-1.1	0.2	-1.3	-3.4	0.3
	pH8.1	24.5	2.6	22.0	23.6	3.1
A. sordidus	pH7.3	24.9	2.0	18.0	22.6	3.2
	$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Consumer}$	0.4	-0.6	-4.0	-1.0	-0.2
	pH8.1	26.3	8.0	27.7	25.5	8.5
S. nematodes	pH7.3	24.6	8.4	23.5	24.0	8.6
	$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Consumer}$	-1.7	0.4	-4.2	-1.5	0.1
S. luhuanus	pH8.1	19.0	12.6	18.3	19.2	11.8
	pH7.3	18.3	10.3	18.1	18.8	11.7
	$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Consumer}$	-0.7	-2.3	-0.2	-0.4	-0.1

**Table 3-1.** The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids, and the  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Consumer</sub> values between pH8.1 and pH7.3 for 3 fish and 1 gastropod.

The  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Consumer</sub> values are calculated with equation 3-3.



The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Coral}}$  values calculated are ranging from -1.3% (glutamic) to +0.9%(glycine) for pH7.6 experiment, from -1.1% (glycine) to +2.5% (glycine) for pH7.5 experiment, from -0.3% (glutamic acid) to +5.5% (glycine) for pH7.4 experiment (Table 3-2). The error of  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Coral}}$  is better than 1.6‰ based on the propagation of  $1\sigma$ on the equation (3-7). The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Coral}}$  values of 4 amino acids in pH7.6 experiment are no substantial difference from 0‰ with the propagation error ( $1\sigma = 1.6\%$ ). The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{\text{Coral}}$  values of glycine for pH7.5 experiment, and of alanine, glycine, and valine

for pH7.4 experiment are significantly positive values from 0‰ with the propagation error (Fig 3-3).

_	Ala	Gly	Val	Glu	Phe
pH8.1	8.2	2.3	9.2	9.6	4.9
pH7.6	8.7	5.9	10.7	10.2	7.1
$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$	-1.2	0.9	0.6	-1.3	
pH7.5	8.9	6.1	11.8	11.6	6.6
$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$	-1.1	2.5	1.3	0.7	
pH7.4	13.3	9.7	13.0	11.2	6.8
$\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$	3.2	5.5	1.9	-0.3	

**Table 3-2.** The  $\delta^{15}N$  values of amino acids, and the  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{coral}$  values for coral under different pH.

The  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}}$  values are calculated with equation 3-7.



#### Fig 3-3.

The  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{Coral}$  values for coral under different pH. The blue, orange, and grey bar represent pH7.6, 7.5, and 7.4, represently.

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 Evaluating the energy consumption of fish and gastropod

Negative  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values can be explained by that consumers less consumed amino acids as energy sources in the experiments. The negative  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values for 7 amino acids in these samples suggest that the energy consumption of these species is smaller in pH7.3 experiment than that in normal condition pH8.1. On other words, these results induce that the requirement of life energy for these species probably lower in pH7.3 experiment than that in normal condition pH8.1. It is simply thought that the low requirement of life energy is a positive effect on consumers, probably for several factors including growth rate and activities.

This is not consistent with previous studies, because many recent studies reported that ocean acidification have negative effects on marine organisms. For example, Munday et al. 2008) reported the larva clownfish *Amphiprion percula* will lose olfactory capacity if they are reared seawater with pH7.6. Even though we have many unclear points about the reason for these positive effect, we suggest the following two hypotheses potentially to explain these results:

Hypothesis 1: Fish and gastropods need more energy to keep the balance of pH between inside and outside of cells in pH8.1 than that in pH7.3. Hirata et al. (2003) reported that the blood pH is ~7.45 for a freshwater fish, osorezan dace *Tribolodon hakonensis*. Although we do not know the blood pH for the investigated fish and gastropods, we assumed that the blood pH for these species are closer to pH7.3 than pH8.1, implying that the interval of pH between inside and outside of cells is reduced

in the pH7.3 seawater. This small interval can be explained why the energy consumption is lower in pH7.3 experiment than that in pH8.1 experiment. Moreover, the  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{Consumer}$  of individuals amino acids is different among species, which may suggest that process to adapt the low pH is somewhat different among species.

Hypothesis 2: Fish and gastropod need more energy to against the toxic condition in pH8.1. It is known that the toxicity of NH<sub>3</sub> is higher than NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> for aquatic organisms (Silva et al., 2013). Based on  $K_b = 1.8 \times 10^{-5}$ , the rate of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/ NH<sub>3</sub> increases from 14.3 to 90.2 when pH decreases from pH8.1 to pH7.3. Thurston et al. (1981) reported that the toxic level of pH8.5 seawater is 10 times higher than pH7.5 seawater. Thus, in this study, the toxic level in pH8.1 experiment is significantly higher than pH7.3 experiment, which means that fish and gastropods need less energy to against the toxic in pH7.3 than normal condition pH8.1.

#### 4.2 Evaluating the energy consumption of coral

We would like to mention that, because it is generally required to have skill for keeping and growing corals in laboratory for several months, we did not have enough samples to evaluate the effect of ocean acidification on corals in this study. Indeed, we tried to prepare several species of corals in laboratory during the last two years. However, we cannot keep corals in the experiments, as almost 80% of corals died particularly for the control experiment (i.e., pH8.1). Therefore, at this moment, we have thought that the  $\Delta \delta^{15}N_{Coral}$  values found in this study are used as preliminary data, and that further experiments are required to conform the finding and explanation in this study.

There is a large difference in the trend of the  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N values between corals (Fig. 3-2) and other consumers (Fig. 3-3). The  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Coral</sub> values sift toward positively by up to 5.5‰ and does not have negative values over the range of errors, whereas the  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Consumer</sub> values sift toward negatively by up to 4.2‰ and does not have positive values over the range of errors. This difference suggests that the response to ocean acidification in corals is different from that in fish and gastropods.

In the experiment with pH7.6, change in the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  value is negligible, which is simply explained by that the energy consumption level of corals in pH7.6 is almost the same to that in pH8.1 (Fig. 3-3). These results clearly indicate that change in the pH from 8.1 to7.6 is no effect for corals. These results are not consistent with the negative effects to pH decrease in previous studies. For example, Anthony et al. (2008) reported a negative effect that the bleaching rates for staghorn coral *Acropora intermedia* in pH7.85-7.95 and pH7.6-7.7 conditions are ~20% and ~40%, respectively. Because supplying photosynthetic products is significantly reduced under such high bleaching rates, we think that consumption rate of organic pools (e.g., protein) in corals is increased and that the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  values are also increased. However, we did not find any positive number for the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  values in this study. Unlike fish and gastropods, it is thought that the effects regarding to pH balance between inside and outside of cells and the toxicity of NH<sub>3</sub> probably are not effective to corals. For corals, because the symbiotic algae can use  $CO_2$  and  $NH_3$  for photosynthesis, pH and  $NH_3$  concentration of seawater around corals frequently change a lot. If it is case, corals potentially have a function for adapting to the seawater with the pH7.6-8.1, which may be a simply explanation to find negligible change in the  $\Delta\delta^{15}N_{Coral}$  values in this study.

In the experiments under pH7.6, the  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Coral</sub> values are significantly increased for glycine in pH7.5, and for alanine, glycine, and valine in pH7.4 (Fig. 3-3). These results suggest that reducing pH under 7.6 start negative effect to corals. This negative effect is probably similar to that found in previous studies (e.g., Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Anthony et al., 2008). Moreover, during the experiment in this study, polyps of corals is decreased in color (from green to white) less in pH7.5 and much in pH7.4 for seawater (Fig. 3-4). This decrease in color suggests that the abundance of symbiotic algae in corals is reduced for the seawater pH lower than pH7.6, and can simply explain that energy consumption of corals in excess to its input from symbiotic algae induces the significantly positive  $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N<sub>Coral</sub> values found in this study.



pH8.1





pH7.6

pH7.5



pH7.4

рН7.3

### Fig 3-4.

The condition for coral under different pH.

#### 5. Conclusion

The  $\Delta \delta^{15}N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values for 7 amino acids in fish and gastropods are significantly negative values, which suggests that energy consumption of these species in pH7.3 experiment is lower than that in pH8.1 experiment. Even though we have many unclear points for the reasons, we hypotheses: 1) difference in the pH between inside and outside of cells in pH7.3 is smaller than that in pH8.1, resulting in smaller energy consumption in pH7.3 than pH8.1 to keep the pH of cells for fish and gastropods; and 2)concentration of NH<sub>3</sub> in seawater with pH7.3 is lower than that with pH8.1, resulting in smaller energy consumption in pH7.3 than pH8.1 to against the toxicity of NH<sub>3</sub> in seawater for fish and gastropods

The  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}}$  values are close to 0‰ for pH7.6 experiment, which suggests that energy consumption of corals does not change in pH7.6-8.1. This is probably caused by that corals potentially have a function for adapting to the seawater with the pH7.6-8.1 and low concentration of NH<sub>3</sub> due to photosynthetic activities of symbiotic algae. However, the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Coral}}$  values for 4 amino acids in pH 7.5 and 7.4 are significantly positively values, which suggests that reducing pH under 7.6 start negative effect to corals, probably because energy consumption of corals is larger than energy supply as photosynthetic products from symbiotic algae in seawater pH lower than 7.6.

#### Reference

- Abram. N., J.-P. Gattuso, A. Prakash, L. Cheng, M.P. Chidichimo, S. Crate, H. Enomoto, M. Garschagen, N. Gruber, S. Harper, E. Holland, R.M. Kudela, J. Rice, K. Steffen, and K. von Schuckmann, 2019: Framing and Context of the Report. In: IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. In press.
- Anthony K. R., Kline D. I., Diaz-Pulido G., Dove S., and Hoegh-Guldberg O. (2008).
  Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 105(45), 17442-17446.
- Chen C. Y., and Durbin E. G. (1994). Effects of pH on the growth and carbon uptake of marine phytoplankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 109*, 83-83.
- Chikaraishi Y., Ogawa N. O., Kashiyama Y., Takano Y., Suga H. and others (2009) Determination of aquatic food-web structure based on compound-specific nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Limnol Oceanogr Methods* 7: 740–750.
- Chikaraishi Y, Steffan S. A., Ogawa N. O., Ishikawa N. F. and others (2014) High resolution food webs based on nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. *Ecol and Evol* 4: 2423-2449.
- Ciais P., Sabine C., Govindasamy B., Bopp L., Brovkin V., Canadell J., Chhabra A., DeFries R., Galloway J., Heimann M., Jones C., Le Quéré C., Myneni R., Piao S., and Thorn- ton P.: Chapter 6: Carbon and Other Biogeochemical Cycles, in: Climate

Change 2013 The Physical Science Basis, edited by: Stocker T., Qin D., and Platner G.-K., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.

- Hoegh-Guldberg O., Mumby P. J., Hooten A. J., Steneck R. S., Greenfield P. and others (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. *Science*, 318(5857), 1737-1742.
- Hirata T., Kaneko T., Ono T., Nakazato T., Furukawa N., Hasegawa S., and others.
  (2003) Mechanism of acid adaptation of a fish living in a pH 3.5 lake. *Am. J. Physiol.-Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 284(5), R1199-R1212.
- Mackenzie F. T. (1999) Global biogeochemical cycles and the physical climate system. University Corporation for Atmospheric Research, 1-76.
- Kump L. R., Bralower T. J., and Ridgwell A. (2009) Ocean acidification in deep time. Oceanography, 22(4), 94-107.
- Silva F. J. R., Lima F. R., Vale D. A., and Marcelo V.C. (2013) High levels of total ammonia nitrogen as NH4<sup>+</sup> are stressful and harmful to the growth of Nile tilapia juveniles. *Acta Scientiarum Biological Sciences*, 35(4), 475-481.
- Thurston R. V., Russo R. C., and Vinogradov G. A. (1981) Ammonia toxicity to fishes. Effect of pH on the toxicity of the unionized ammonia species. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 15(7), 837-840.

# CHAPTER IV.

## **General Conclusions**

In the Ph.D. thesis, a main purpose is learning the scientific tools and skills to study the effect of pollutants (e.g., toxic chemicals, nitrogen, phosphorus, CO<sub>2</sub>, etc.) on marine ecosystems. For this purpose, we did serval studies during the last three years. For the first studies, we evaluated the effect of multiple nitrogen sources on the isotopic composition of organisms in food webs. This studies includes three parts, i.e., charactering the food web structure for fish communities, comparing nitrogen isotope ratios between tissue types, and illustrating isoscape map of coastal areas. Based on the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids of organisms collected from Sagami Bay, we illuminated that:

- The small variation of TP within species collected from Sagami Bay suggests that CSIA-AA is useful for calculating TP of organisms and illustrating food web structure even for complex ecosystems with isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources inputs.
- 2. The  $\delta^{15}$ N values of amino acids in scale, fin, shell, and yolk are almost identical to those corresponding amino acids in muscle. These results suggest that these four tissues can be used as alternative samples to muscle in CSIA-AA, but other tissues (e.g., blood and bone) cannot.
- 3. From the isoscape map illustrated, we found a large variation in the  $\delta^{15}N_{Baseline,phe}$  value across Sagami Bay, which reflects the incorporation of isotopically-distinct nitrogen sources.
Based on the described above, the calculation of TP of organisms by CSIA-AA is useful for studying the effect of pollutants along food webs. After I going back to China, I will continue the research related to Ph.D. thesis because the marine environments along China are increasing at risk and many environments are more complex than Sagami Bay. At this moment, I have two ideas for further studies: (1) collecting a same species in coastal areas from north to south of China. Based on the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of this species, we can illustrate the isoscape map of China coastal areas and understand the contribute of nitrogen sources for these areas; (2) collecting a same species in several isolated lakes. Based on the  $\delta^{15}$ N values of this species, we can understand the effect of different environments on the trophic position of single species.

Moreover, to evaluate the effect of ocean acidification on the isotopic composition of organisms, we did the second studies during the last three years. For these studies, we reared 3 fish and 1 gastropod species in pH 8.1 and pH 7.3 for five months, and 1 coral species in pH 8.1-7.4 for 2 months, and measured the  $\Delta\delta^{15}N$  values in these species. Based on the measured  $\Delta\delta^{15}N$ , we illuminated that:

- (1) The  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{\text{Consumer}}$  values for 7 amino acids are significantly negative values for fish and gastropods, which suggests that energy consumption of these species in pH7.3 experiment is lower than that in pH8.1 experiment;
- (2) The  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  values are close to 0‰ for pH7.6 experiment, which suggests that energy consumption of corals does not change in pH7.6-8.1. However, the  $\Delta \delta^{15} N_{Coral}$  values for 4 amino acids in pH 7.5 and 7.4 are significantly positively

Values which suggests that reducing pH under 7.6 start negative effect to corals. Based on the described above, we can make sure that ocean acidification does not only have negative effect on organisms, even though we still have many unclear points. For coral experiment, I would like to note that this is preliminary results, because keeping coral in aquarium system is quite difficult even for 2 months, especially for control experiments. Thus, after I going back to China, I will continue the research related to Ph.D. thesis, as the following two studies: (1) evaluating the effect of pH on calcified corals. The increase of concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in atmosphere results in the increase of seawater temperature and the decrease of seawater pH. Thus, it should understand the effect of temperature and pH on organisms if we accurate evaluate ocean acidification. In this Ph.D. thesis, we used non-calcified coral species. Thus, I expect that, for different coral types, the effect of pH will be potentially different.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is not a fair task to acknowledge all the people who made this Ph.D. thesis possible with a few words. However, I will try to do my best to extend my great appreciation to everyone who helped me scientifically and emotionally throughout this study.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, **Prof. Yoshito Chikaraishi**, for giving me opportunity in this study including for presentation in international conferences, publications in scientific papers, and all in-depth and constructive discussions in this Ph.D. thesis. His insightful comments and constructive suggestions were innumerably valuable throughout my Ph.D. thesis. This thesis would have been incomplete without his helpful advises both in officially and privately.

I appreciate Prof. Yutaka W. Watanabe, Shawn A. Steffan, Yuko Takizawa, Rong Fan, Dr. Boyung Choi, Mr. Xuechao Wang, and Ms. R. Hirono for their efforts, comments and advices on my thesis and presentation, make me able to accomplish my doctor study as presenting above.

I also appreciate Ms. Michie. Tomoda for supporting laboratory life.

I specially want to express my deep gratitude to **family (fathers, mothers, wife Dan Chen, and Son Chenhan Xing)** and **friends** of mine, for their emotional supports and warm encouragements.